# THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN ANKLE JOINT FUNCTION AND KNEE HYPEREXTENSION DURING THE STANCE PHASE OF GAIT IN HEMIPARETIC STROKE PATIENTS: A PILOT STUDY

**Catherine Cawood** 

A research report submitted to the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Physiotherapy

Johannesburg, (2021)

# Declaration

I, Catherine Cawood, declare that this research report is my own, unaided work. It is being submitted for the Master of Science in Physiotherapy at University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination at any other University.

\_\_Catherine Cawood\_\_\_\_ Name of candidate

awoou Signature of candidate

20<sup>th</sup> day of June 2022 in Johannesburg

# Publications arising from this Study

Cawood C & Mashola M.K. 2022. The association between ankle joint function and knee hyperextension during the stance phase of gait in hemiparetic stroke patients: a pilot study. Manuscript in development.

# Abstract

Knee hyperextension is common following stroke which clinicians hypothesise could be due to changes in muscle strength, muscle tone, and joint range of motion on the hemiparetic side. There is no clear consensus as to the cause of knee hyperextension during stance phase of gait. This pilot study's aim is to determine the feasibility of the methods in order to investigate the association between ankle joint function and hyperextension of the knee in hemiparetic stroke patients during stance phase of gait in a larger study.

This was a pilot study of a cross-sectional observational study design and assessed bilateral ankle muscle strength using a handheld dynamometer, joint range of motion (ROM) using a digital inclinometer, and muscle tone using the Modified Tardieu Scale. The knee angles of the hemiparetic leg during the three sub-phases of stance phase of gait (initial contact, loading response, and midstance) were assessed using the Kinovea movement analysis software. The data was analysed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences v27 with significance level set at p< 0.05.

The researcher included 12 participants and found positive associations between the tibialis anterior muscle tone and the hemiparetic knee angles during heel strike, terminal stance and pre-swing phases (p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p < 0.01 respectively).

The results of the data analysis showed that there was no association between muscle strength and range of motion of the ankle, and knee hyperextension during stance phase of gait. Decreased tibialis muscle tone was seen in participants who presented with increased knee flexion during stance phase and does not seem to not play a role in knee hyperextension. But conclusions cannot be drawn from these results based on the small sample size and the heterogeneity of the participants. The researcher has shown feasibility of the methods described in this study for a larger study to be conducted with the recommendations considered.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people and organisations for their continued assistance and support during this study. Without their time and expertise this study would not have been possible. I truly appreciate all that you have done for me:

Ms Kholofelo Mashola, my supervisor, for her willingness to dedicate so much time to guiding my research and for her unending support and enthusiasm which made the journey of masters so enjoyable.

Jeanine Blumenau for her assistance with the statistical analysis of this research report.

The South African Society of Physiotherapy for funding the research.

The Physiotherapy Department at the University of the Witwatersrand for the loan of the equipment needed for my research.

All the staff members at the study sites for allowing me to conduct the research at their facilities, and for their willingness to assist me.

All the participants, for being so enthusiastic and willing to be part of my research study.

My family and friends for believing in me and providing support and encouragement throughout this process.

# **Table of Contents**

2
3
4
5
9
10
11
12
12
14
15
15
15
15
16
17
25
25
25
25
25
25
26
29
29
30
31
32
35
35
35

4.3 Feasibility of the study	36
4.3.1 Time taken to recruit participants	36
4.3.2 Visit to facilities	36
4.3.3 Time taken to complete each assessment	36
4.4 Description of the biomechanics of the ankle complex	37
4.4.1 Muscle Strength	37
4.4.2 Muscle tone	38
4.4.3 Ankle range of motion	38
4.3.4 Gait analysis: changes in knee angles during stance phase	39
4.4.5 Association during gait stance phase between the ankle components ass	sessed
and knee hyperextension	39
4.4 Summary of main results	43
Chapter 5 Discussion	44
5.1 Introduction	44
5.2 Recruitment and consent procedures	44
5.3 Sample size	45
5.4 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	45
5.5 Appropriateness of instruments	45
5.6 Participants	47
5.7 Muscle strength	47
5.8 Muscle tone	48
5.9 Ankle joint range of motion	49
5.10 Knee angles during stance phase of gait	49
5.11 Association between the ankle components assessed and knee hyperext 50	ension
5.12 Summary of discussion	52
Chapter 6 Conclusion and Recommendations	53
6.1 Conclusion	53
6.2 Limitations of the study and recommendation for future research	53
6.3 Clinical/Practical Recommendations	55
References	56
Appendices	64
Appendix A – Phases of Gait:	65

Appendix B - Demographic Capture Sheet:	67
Appendix C – Participant Data Capture Sheet:	68
Appendix D – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle (Cooper et al., 2012):	69
Appendix E – Muscle Tone Testing:	70
Appendix F – Ankle Range of Motion Testing	71
Appendix G - Video Capturing of Gait over Ten Metres:	72
Appendix H – Information Sheet:	73
Appendix I –Consent Form:	76
Appendix J – Ethical Clearance Certificate:	78
Appendix K – Signed Permission Letters:	81
Appendix L – Infographic Coronavirus Neurological Complications:	85
Appendix M – Budget:	86
Appendix N – Turnitin Report:	89
Appendix O – Study Protocol:	104
Appendix P – Raw data:	.10419
Appendix Q – Data tables:	121

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Outline of the Research Report	.16
Figure 4.1 Flow diagram of selection of participants	.35
Figure 7.1 Marker placement on participants to mark specific landmarks	.71
Figure 7.2 Infographic Coronavirus Symptoms and complications	.87

# List of Tables

Table 3.1 - Statistical tests that were used to analyse the collected data
Table 4.2 - Muscle strength of the ankle distribution data       37
Table 4.3 - Comparison of muscle strength between affected and unaffected ankle
joints37
Table 4.5 – Quality of muscle reaction for muscle tone of the gastrocnemius descriptive
data38
Table 4.7 – Comparison of ROM between affected and unaffected ankle joints
Table 4.9 – Correlation between muscle tone of the ankle and hemiparetic knee angles
during stance phase of gait40
Table 4.10 - Correlation data between ankle muscle strength, ankle range of motion,
and hemiparetic knee angles during the stance phases of gait41
Table 4.11 – Tests between subject-effects    42
Table 4.12 – Multiple regression and tests between subject-effects         43
Table 7.1 - The Joint Angles, Muscle Action and Ground Reaction Forces of the Pelvis,
Hip, Knee, and Ankle During the Stance Phase of Gait64
Table 7.2 - Detailed budget of the proposed study
Table 7.3 - Age, height, weight, and months since stroke normal distribution data.121
Table 7.4 – Muscle tone of the ankle distribution data
Table 7.5 – ROM of the ankle distribution data121
Table 7.6 – Hemiparetic knee angles during the stance phases of gait distribution data

# List of Abbreviations

- ACE2 Angiotensin-converting enzyme II
- ADLs Activities of daily living
- **DF** Dorsiflexion
- MAS Modified Ashworth Scale
- MTS Modified Tardieu Scale
- **PF** Plantarflexion
- ROM Range of motion
- WHO World Health Organisation

# Chapter 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Background

Restoration of walking is one of the main physiotherapy goals for many patients following a stroke, in order to be more functional in daily life and to allow for greater community participation (Cooper et al., 2012). Sixty to 80% of stroke survivors can walk independently by six months following a stroke (Veerbeek et al., 2011). However, stroke survivors are often left with impairments such as changes in motor control, joint range of motion (ROM), muscle tone, sensation, and muscle strength (Lucareli and Greve, 2008). These functional limitations result in reduced standing balance, increased energy expenditure, joint deformity, pain, and muscle wasting (Cooper et al., 2012), which all then impact on the individual's gait.

Gait comprises of a full cycle which starts as one foot strikes the ground and ends when it strikes the ground again and is subdivided into stance and swing phases (Silva and Stergiou, 2020; Kharb et al., 2011). The stance phase of gait can be described as the moment when the foot lands on the ground and includes the 'weight acceptance' phase and the 'single limb support' phase (Richardson et al., 2012). These two phases can be further classified into 'initial contact' and 'loading response' in the weight acceptance phase, and 'midstance', 'terminal stance' and 'pre-swing' in the single limb support phase. Individuals with stroke usually present with a shorter stance phase and increased swing phase on the hemiparetic side due to changes in muscle strength and coordination, muscle tone, joint range of motion, altered sensation, and poor balance control (Li et al., 2018). These changes such as decreased muscle strength lead to decreased weight bearing through the affected leg, which means they spend a shorter time in stance phase on the affected side, but it often takes longer for the leg to swing through in swing phase (Li et al., 2018).

Knee hyperextension can be described as extension of the hemiparetic knee past 'anatomical zero' (Cooper et al., 2012). Forty to 60% of the stroke population present with hyperextension of the knee while walking (Cooper et al., 2012). In normal gait, throughout the single limb support phase, the knee remains extended, although there is a small amount of knee flexion that occurs early in the stance phase (Balaban and Tok, 2014). In hemiparetic gait, knee hyperextension can occur during the heel strike/initial contact phase, loading response phase, and midstance phase (Richardson

et al., 2012). Although there is no clear consensus as to the cause of hyperextension of the knee, there is evidence that the ankle joint plays a role in knee hyperextension in patients post stroke (An and Won, 2016). Increased muscle tone in the ankle plantarflexor muscles causes early contraction of the ankle plantarflexors at 'initial contact', pulling the tibia posteriorly while the femur travels forward, causing knee hyperextension (Sheffler and Chae, 2015). Spasticity in the ankle plantarflexors (and even shortening of the Achilles tendon) may result in changes in ankle ROM, causing knee hyperextension at initial contact due to a lack of an antagonist muscle force (Higginson et al., 2006). Reduced ankle ROM during stance phase of gait leads to the reduced ability to shift one's centre of mass, leading to instability and balance deficits during gait. Decreased ankle ROM also leads to soft tissue changes of the connective tissue and muscles of the ankle causing biomechanical changes in gait (An and Won, 2016). In normal gait, maximal ankle dorsiflexion of ten degrees is achieved at midstance phase of gait, and terminal stance phase (Ota et al., 2014). However, decreased dorsiflexion ROM, due to poor tibialis anterior muscle strength, or increased plantarflexion muscle tone, hinders the forward translation of the tibia over the foot, which leads to compensation at the knee and altered spatiotemporal parameters such as decreased stride length, step length, cadence, and walking speed (Ota et al., 2014). Cooper et al (2012) suggested that tibialis anterior muscle weakness may also contribute to knee hyperextension during stance phase of gait, as the ankle dorsiflexor muscles are active in loading response and midstance phases of gait to control foot descent to the floor and the movement of the tibia over the foot. Less than eight degrees of ankle dorsiflexion during stance phase leads to changes in knee biomechanics and gait parameters such as "toe walking" in stance phase and reduced step length (Ota et al., 2014).

Muscle weakness of the quadricep, hamstring, and both ankle dorsiflexor and plantarflexor muscles of the hemiparetic lower limb has been shown to have an impact on the position of the knee during stance phase (Sheffler and Chae, 2015; An and Won, 2016; Cooper et al., 2012). Weakness of the quadricep muscles leads to reduced weight bearing ability (Cooper et al., 2012) while weakness of the hamstring muscle has an influence on knee hyperextension, especially if there is spasticity in the quadricep muscle of the hemiparetic lower limb (Springer et al., 2013). The gastrocnemius and hamstring muscles are thought to work in tandem, during the stance phase of walking, to limit rapid hyperextension of the knee, but the exact action

of the gastrocnemius and hamstring muscles in stance phase of gait is not well demonstrated in literature (Springer et al., 2013; and Sheffler and Chae, 2015).

During stance phase of gait, knee hyperextension can allow individuals with stroke a certain amount of stability and provide a mechanism to control their affected lower limb, as it allows the knee to lock into a stable position using the form closure of the joint (bony, capsular, and ligamentous structures) and provide a more stable lower limb to weight bear through during stance phase. However, there is a potential for injury to the posterior capsular and ligamentous structures which may lead to pain, ligament laxity, and bony deformity (Richardson et al., 2012; Cooper et al., 2012).

# 1.2 Problem Statement

During the stance phase of gait, knee hyperextension is common, both in acute and chronic patients with stroke. There is a current lack of consensus as to the cause of hyperextension of the knee in stroke patients during gait (stance phase) (Cooper et al., 2012), despite the high rate of ambulating stroke patients presenting with knee hyperextension during gait. Literature has reported a variety of possible factors that may cause knee hyperextension - changes in muscle strength, muscle tone, and joint range of motion of the lower limb on the hemiparetic side, however, it is not clear which of these factors affecting ankle joint function has the greatest impact on knee hyperextension. The knee plays a big role during stance phase of gait including deceleration of the limb and supporting one's body weight (Shamaei and Dollar, 2011). The goal for physiotherapy is to restore an efficient gait, where the patient is able to ambulate independently and safely. To do this, the physiotherapist must establish the causes of the patient's altered gait pattern in order to deliver the most effective and appropriate therapy. Hyperextension of the knee needs to be addressed during gait therapy as the repeated abnormal hyperextension of the knee may cause injury to the posterior structures of the knee causing pain, ligamentous damage, and bony changes (Richardson et al., 2012; Cooper et al., 2012). Although there is no clear consensus in literature currently, there is evidence to suggest that the ankle joint plays a role in knee hyperextension in ambulating stroke patients. It is for this reason that is essential to determine how the ankle joint plays a role in knee hyperextension in people with stroke.

# 1.3 Aims and Objectives

# 1.3.1 Aim of the Study

This pilot study's aim is to determine the feasibility of the methods for a larger study to investigate the association between ankle joint function and hyperextension of the knee in hemiparetic stroke patients during stance phase of gait.

# 1.3.2 Objectives of the Study

- To confirm the recruitment and consent procedures
- To confirm sample size calculation
- To confirm inclusion and exclusion criteria
- To test appropriateness of instruments
- To determine the feasibility of the study by:
  - Analysing the knee joint angles during the first three stance phases of gait (initial contact/heel strike, loading response, and midstance).
  - Analysing the association between tibialis anterior and gastrocnemius muscle strength for ankle dorsiflexion and plantarflexion, respectively; muscle tone of the muscles of the ankle joint (tibialis anterior for ankle dorsiflexion, and gastrocnemius for ankle plantarflexion); and joint range of motion of ankle dorsiflexion and plantarflexion assessed and hyperextension of the knee in the stance phase of gait.

# 1.4 Significance

Results from this study will determine the feasibility of conducting a larger study and those results may add to the existing body of research and may be used in further research into developing and modifying existing treatment approaches. A treatment protocol for knee hyperextension, in relation to ankle joint function, for patients with stroke can be designed to effectively reduce knee hyperextension. Prevention and management of knee hyperextension in the stroke population will help prevent and minimise the development of knee pain as well as risk of injury to the posterior capsular and ligamentous structures of the knee. By so doing, the need for expensive orthoses, aids and surgery may be reduced. Better understanding of the association of the factors affecting the ankle joint and knee hyperextension during gait in patients with stroke may lead to an improvement in targeted therapy techniques. Thus, leading to improvement in stroke survivors' outcomes in terms of walking speed, stride length, step length, and amount of support through hands needed. There is currently a dearth

of literature on the association between ankle joint function and hyperextension of the knee in stroke patients during stance phase of gait, particularly in the South African population. This study will therefore provide research in a local population, as well as adding to existing research. The outline of this research report is seen in the figure below (figure 1.1).

# 1.5 Outline of this Research Report



Figure 1.1. Outline of the research report

# Chapter 2 Literature Review

#### 2.1 Introduction

This chapter reviews the current available literature of knee hyperextension in hemiparetic people with stroke, and the contributing factors which may cause knee hyperextension in these patients. The chapter will be discussed in the following manner: background and epidemiology of stroke, gait dysfunction post stroke, and knee hyperextension during hemiparetic gait. Evidence was sourced from online literature databases including Google Scholar, PubMed, Science Direct and CINAHL. The search included English articles published between 2010 and February 2022. Keywords used in the search were stroke, knee hyperextension, gait, muscle strength, ankle, range of motion, muscle tone, and covid-19.

#### 2.2 Stroke

#### 2.2.1 Background and epidemiology

A stroke or cerebrovascular accident (CVA) is defined as "the damaging of, or death to brain cells that are starved of oxygen due to the sudden disruption of blood supply to certain areas of the brain" (Schellack et al., 2020: 26). African countries are suggested to be experiencing a change in the epidemiology of stroke as a result of lifestyle and socioeconomic changes, and an increase in non-communicable diseases is thus being seen (Matizirofa and Ranganai, 2020). Stroke results in permanent neurological damage, and, in South Africa, it is one of ten leading reasons for disability (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019) and the third highest cause of disability worldwide (Matizirofa and Ranganai, 2020).

Stroke is divided into two types, the first is ischaemic, which is when a blood vessel in the brain is blocked by an atherosclerotic plaque or blood clot and interrupts the blood flow. An ischaemic stroke can either be thrombotic (obstruction in a blood vessel locally in the brain) or embolic (a blood clot breaks off and travels from another area of the body and blocks blood flow in a blood vessel in the brain) and results in the cerebral parenchyma receiving inadequate blood flow (Stroke Center, 2021). Acute ischaemic strokes are most commonly caused by atherosclerosis, thrombosis, embolism, or systemic hypoperfusion (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019).

The second type is haemorrhagic stroke, caused by a weakened blood vessel, which ruptures in the brain. Haemorrhagic strokes cause haematoma formation and the buildup of pressure due to the rupture causes compression of the surrounding tissue and blood vessels. This results in decreased blood supply to the downstream tissue and can lead to infarction (Stroke Forum, 2021). Stroke severity and age influences functional outcome predictors in both stroke types, and, while on admission haemorrhagic stroke patients may present with a poor clinical and functional status compared to ischaemic stroke patients, the two stroke types have the same trajectory of functional recovery and outcomes (Salvadori et al., 2021).

Underlying conditions of the blood vessels or heart such as hypertension and atherosclerosis are the primary causes of stroke (Stroke Center, 2021). These lead to dyslipidaemia/hyperlipidaemia, coronary artery disease, and heart disease (Stroke Center, 2021). Secondary causes of stroke include one or more underlying diseases, and non-modifiable and modifiable risk factors. Non-modifiable risk factors include age, history of stroke, gender, and heredity. With regards to age, the risk of stroke doubles for every decade over 55 years of age; a previous TIA is seen in 60% of individuals who suffer a stroke; and family history of stroke or TIA increases one's risk of a stroke (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019; Stroke Center, 2021). Modifiable risk factors include hypertension, cigarette smoking, diabetes, physical inactivity and obesity (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019). The most common risk factor in both ischaemic and haemorrhagic strokes is hypertension, and can be controlled through pharmacological intervention, exercise, and diet; cardiac conditions; uncontrolled diabetes mellitus causes increased risk of ischaemic stroke in a younger population (Schellack et al., 2020). Dyslipidaemia increases one's risk of stroke and is associated strongly with atherosclerosis (Schellack et al., 2020). Increased abdominal fat with a body mass index of more than 25kg/m<sup>2</sup> increases the risk of a stroke, as well as heavy alcohol consumption. Compared to physically active individuals, individuals who exercise less than four times per week have a 20% increased risk of stroke after 5.7 years (Schellack et al., 2020).

Stroke is also the second leading cause of death, and worldwide, it is estimated that there will be 70 million survivors of stroke and 20 million deaths due to stroke annually by 2030 (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019). Annually, in South Africa, there are approximately 25 000 deaths due to stroke (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019). There is an increasing trend due to the South African population having a greater exposure to and developing stroke

risk factors (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019; Owolabi et al., 2018; Matizirofa and Ranganai, 2020). Hypertension is the leading cause of stroke in Africa and South Africa is not exempt. with hypertension closely followed by tobacco use. obesitv. hypercholesterolemia, low vegetable and fruit intake, physical inactivity, diabetes, and alcohol consumption (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019). Urbanisation can be blamed for the lifestyle changes linked to increased stroke risk and the risk of non-communicable diseases in general, and the rapid growth of our urban population has put pressure on our urban healthcare infrastructure (Matizirofa and Ranganai, 2020). Along with the rapid urbanisation and increasing incidence of non-communicable diseases, there is a trend of increasing stroke incidence in younger people from low- and middle-income countries as compared to the increasing trend of stroke in an aging population in highincome countries (Katan and Luft, 2018). Studies by Duff, Ntsiea and Mudzi (2014) and Statistics South Africa (2004), described the mean age of stroke survivors as 51 and 52.95 years, respectively, in South Africa. This is thought to be due to the exponential increase in non-communicable diseases in developing countries, with the existing burden of communicable diseases (HIV, malaria etc.), as well as multiple factors across one's lifespan such as early-life malnutrition, migration from rural to urban areas, air pollution, obesity, stress, and population growth (Akinyemi et al., 2021). Younger stroke survivors are severely impacted physically, mentally and emotionally, but also socially and economically. They are often breadwinners for their families and are not able to fulfil their previous social roles poststroke (Duff, Ntsiea and Mudzi, 2014).

HIV/AIDS affects individuals worldwide, but South Africa has a high prevalence of HIV/AIDS (19.0% [16.1 - 20.9]) (UNAIDS, 2021) which complicates stroke management, especially in younger South Africans. HIV/AIDS leads to an increase in the risk of both ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke (Gutierrez et al., 2015). The mechanism is uncertain, however it is thought that the HI-virus may injure the arterial wall directly (Gutierrez et al., 2015), while Boehme et al., (2017) suggest that adverse metabolic effects from the antiretroviral medications may cause an increase in cardiovascular and cerebrovascular risk factors. The risk of stroke is higher in individuals who are more immunosuppressed with a low CD4+ T-cell count (<200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup>) and a high viral load (Boehme et al., 2017).

In the absence of HIV/AIDS, men have shown to have a greater stroke incidence rate that is approximately 33% higher and stroke prevalence is 41% higher than in women (Appelros et al., 2009). Furthermore, below the age of 75 years, men have a higher incidence of stroke compared to women, and the reverse is seen over the age of 75 (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019). This is thought to be due to the following: 1) women tend to live for longer and are older at the time of stroke onset; 2) women with acute stroke are less likely to have lipid testing done and to receive intravenous alteplase treatment; 3) and post-stroke, women present with decreased functional outcomes, a lower quality of life, and higher rates of depression than men (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019; Reeves et al., 2008). However, some studies also suggest that younger women ( $\leq$  55 years) have equal or higher risk of stroke than men, which is reversed at an older age with men having a higher risk up to the age of 75 years old (Boehme et al., 2017). This is thought to be because of the risks related to pregnancy and other hormonal factors, such as hormonal contraceptive use (Boehme et al., 2017; Thomas et al., 2021).

With regards to the stroke subtypes, ischaemic stroke occurs at a higher rate than haemorrhagic stroke (68% vs 32-38%) (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019; Salvadori et al., 2021). Studies have shown that haemorrhagic strokes have a higher incidence in lower socioeconomic countries, as there is a burden of disorders related to hypertension, which is a major cause of haemorrhagic stroke (Taylor and Ntusi, 2019; Boehme et al., 2017). As countries such as China (Beijing) move towards improved socioeconomic development, the incidence of haemorrhagic stroke decreases, while the incidence of ischaemic stroke increases (Boehme et al., 2017). The emergence of the global pandemic Sars-CoV-2 (also known as the coronavirus/covid-19), which has resulted in 404 million infections and over 5.7 million deaths (World Health Organisation (WHO), 2022), has also had an effect on people affected by stroke.

Primarily, the virus causes respiratory and cardiovascular complications, however, it has also shown to cause neurological complications such as stroke, seizures, anosmia, and hypogeusia (loss of taste and smell) adding to the mortality and morbidity (Bridwell et al., 2020; Hess et al., 2020). There are multiple factors which cause a stroke in covid-19 patients. These factors are mainly cardiovascular in nature, such as high blood pressure, dyslipidaemia, diabetes, congestive heart failure, and atrial fibrillation. The virus causes a widespread inflammatory response in the body and the coagulability of the blood increases (Yokota et al., 2021).

Stroke can have a negative influence on a person's daily life such as their mobility, are often left unable to return to work, and face social isolation due to physical and social barriers in their communities (Rhoda et al., 2011). With decreasing mortality among stroke survivors, there is a greater number of stroke survivors with residual activity limitations (Srivastava et al., 2010), with the prevalence of disability among stroke survivors between 36-71% (Yang, 2016). Functional impairments include physical (mobility, limb function, balance, pain, speech, sensation), cognitive (executive function, attention, perception, memory), and psychological (fatigue, depression) impairments, which all contribute to one's ability to perform activities of daily living (ADLs), mobility in homes and community, and participation including social roles and ability to return to work (Saunders et al., 2014). Mobility impairments such as gait is the focus of this research and will be discussed in more detail below.

### 2.3 Gait dysfunction poststroke

Gait, also known as walking, is a fundamental human movement and forms an integral part of our life, it allows us to perform ADLs, move through the world, and interact with others. Gait involves both the musculoskeletal and nervous systems, with the basic motor pattern for walking being generated at spinal cord level, with supraspinal input from various areas of the brain including the motor cortex, brainstem, and cerebellum (Verma et al., 2012). It is influenced by age, sociocultural factors such as whether an individual lives in an urban versus rural area, mood, and personality (Pirker and Katzenschlager, 2017). Restoration of walking is one of the main physiotherapy goals for many patients following a stroke, in order to be more functional in daily life and allow for greater community participation (Cooper et al., 2012).

Gait is described as a cyclic pattern and is defined as the sequence from when one foot reaches the ground and ends when that same foot reaches the ground again (Watkins, 2020). Gait is subdivided into two phases, swing and stance phase, where swing phase is the time in which the foot does not touch the ground and the weight of the body is carried through the contralateral leg. Swing phase is broken down into three phases: initial swing, mid-swing and terminal swing phase. Swing phase constitutes forty percent of the gait cycle, while stance phase is the remaining sixty percent (Watkins, 2020). The stance phase of gait can be described as the moment when the foot hits the ground and includes the 'weight acceptance' phase and the 'single limb support' phase (Richardson et al., 2012). These two sub-phases of stance can be

further classified into 'initial contact' and 'loading response' in the weight acceptance phase, and 'midstance', 'terminal stance' and 'pre-swing' in the single limb support phase. A more descriptive breakdown of each phase of the gait cycle can be read at Appendix A.

Individuals with stroke usually present with a shorter stance phase and increased swing phase on the hemiparetic side and this is thought to be due to poor muscle coordination of the affected limb, mass flexor/extensor patterns, decreased muscle strength, reduced weight bearing on affected limb, and poor balance control (Li et al., 2018). During normal gait, throughout the single limb support phase, the knee remains extended, although there is a small amount of knee flexion that occurs early in the stance phase (Balaban and Tok, 2014). In hemiparetic gait, knee hyperextension can occur during the heel strike/initial contact phase, loading response phase, and midstance phase thus affecting gait symmetry together (Richardson et al., 2012).

#### 2.4 Knee hyperextension during hemiparetic gait

Knee hyperextension can be described as extension of the hemiparetic knee past 'anatomical zero' and 40 to 60% of the stroke population present with knee hyperextension while walking, although there is no clear consensus as to the cause of hyperextension of the knee. (Cooper et al., 2012). Some causes of knee hyperextension poststroke may be related to the knee joint itself, alignment or control of joints and muscles above and below the knee, e.g., the hip and ankle joints. Other causes include quadriceps muscle weakness (Sheffler and Chae, 2015; Lucareli and Greve, 2008; Morris et al., 1992; and Moore, 1993), spasticity of the quadriceps muscles (Sheffler and Chae, 2015; Springer et al., 2013; Lucareli and Greve, 2008; Moore, 1993; Morris et al., 1992), and hamstring muscle weakness (Sheffler and Chae, 2015; Springer et al., 2013; Moore, 1993). Weakness of the guadricep muscles leads to reduced weight bearing ability (Cooper et al., 2012) while weakness of the hamstring muscle has an influence on knee hyperextension, especially if there is spasticity in the quadricep muscle of the hemiparetic lower limb as it would cause the tibia to be pulled posteriorly and the femur anteriorly causing hyperextension of the knee (Springer et al., 2013). Spasticity is an increase in the tonic stretch reflexes with changes in velocity and is a common symptom seen in stroke patients (Abolhasani et al., 2012). The prevalence of spasticity post-stroke is suggested to be between 18 and 50%, and excessive spasticity can impact on a patient's functional ability and may lead to

secondary compilations such as pain and joint contracture (Abolhasani et al., 2012; Singh et al., 2011). Decreased selective motor control have also been identified as possible causes of knee hyperextension poststroke, and the disrupted interplay between the pyramidal and extrapyramidal tracts may result in mass flexor/extensor patterns during gait (Sheffler and Chae, 2015; Verma et al., 2012). During stance phase, a mass extensor pattern of spasticity causing gluteus maximus and quadriceps activation may lead to knee hyperextension too (Sheffler and Chae, 2015; Verma et al., 2012).

Apart from the abovementioned knee involvement that may cause knee hyperextension, there are a number of factors causing altered ankle joint functioning that have an impact on the knee joint in stroke patients during gait (An and Won, 2016). Increased muscle tone in the ankle plantarflexor muscles causes early contraction of the ankle plantarflexors at 'initial contact', pulling the tibia posteriorly while the femur travels forward, causing decreased ankle dorsiflexion, the foot to slap the ground and knee hyperextension (Balaban and Tok, 2014; Sheffler and Chae, 2015). Spasticity in the ankle plantarflexors (and even shortening of the Achilles tendon) may result in changes in ankle ROM, causing knee hyperextension at initial contact due to a lack of an antagonist muscle force (eccentric tibialis anterior activity) (Higginson et al., 2006). Reduced ankle ROM during stance phase of gait leads to the reduced ability to shift one's centre of mass, leading to instability and balance deficits during gait. Soft tissue changes of the connective tissue and muscles of the ankle lead to biomechanical changes in gait with regards to both kinematics or spatiotemporal parameters (An and Won, 2016). Normally, maximal ankle dorsiflexion of 10 degrees is achieved at midstance phase of gait, and terminal stance phase (Ota et al., 2014). However, reduced dorsiflexion ROM hinders the forward translation of the tibia over the foot, which leads to compensation at the knee and altered spatiotemporal parameters such as decreased step length, stride length, cadence, and walking speed (Ota et al., 2014). Less than eight degrees of ankle dorsiflexion during stance phase leads to changes in knee biomechanics and gait parameters such as "toe walking" in stance phase and reduced step length (Ota et al., 2014).

Muscle weakness of the ankle dorsiflexor and plantarflexor muscles of the hemiparetic lower limb has been shown to have an impact on hyperextension of the knee during stance phase of gait (Sheffler and Chae, 2015; An and Won, 2016; Cooper et al.,

2012). The gastrocnemius and hamstring muscles are thought to work in tandem, during the stance phase of walking, to prevent rapid hyperextension of the knee, but the exact action of the gastrocnemius and hamstring muscles in stance phase of gait is not well demonstrated in literature (Springer et al., 2013; Sheffler and Chae, 2015). Cooper et al (2012) suggest that tibialis anterior muscle weakness may also contribute to knee hyperextension during stance phase of gait, as the ankle dorsiflexor muscles are active in early stance phase of gait to control foot descent to the floor and control the loading response. If there is not enough eccentric control of tibialis anterior, the forward translation of the tibia over the foot will be hindered, causing compensation in the knee (Ota et al., 2014).

During stance phase of gait, knee hyperextension can allow individuals with stroke a certain amount of stability and provide a mechanism to control their affected lower limb by acting as a rigid pillar for direct weightbearing, especially in the midstance subphase of gait. However, there is a potential for injury to the posterior capsular and ligamentous structures which may lead to pain, ligament laxity, and bony deformity and potentially cause more damage to the knee (Richardson et al., 2012; Cooper et al., 2012). Knee hyperextension can also aggravate existing osteoarthritis of the hemiparetic knee (Kong et al., 2004). This study focused on the how ankle function may influence knee hyperextension in hemiparetic stroke patients during the stance phase of gait.

# 2.5 Summary

Literature has reported a variety of possible factors that may cause knee hyperextension as mentioned above, however, it is not clear which of these factors affecting ankle joint function has the greatest impact on knee hyperextension. The goal for physiotherapy is to restore an efficient gait, where the patient is able to ambulate independently and safely. To do this, the physiotherapist needs to establish the causes of the patient's altered gait pattern in order to deliver the most effective and appropriate therapy. Hyperextension of the knee has the potential to negatively impact gait therapy, and this study therefore aimed to investigate, during stance phase of gait, the association between ankle joint function and hyperextension of the knee in hemiparetic stroke patients.

# Chapter 3 Methods

#### 3.1 Study Design

This pilot study used a cross-sectional observational study design, which would be used by a larger study.

### 3.2 Setting

Five private healthcare rehabilitation facilities were approached, and participants of this pilot study were sourced from two consenting private healthcare rehabilitation units in Durban, South Africa. *Rehab Matters Durban* is an outpatient therapy unit providing physiotherapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy neurorehabilitation services in the Durban central, Durban North, Pinetown, and Umhlanga areas. *Nurture iLembe* is a facility in the Ballito area, which provides acute and sub-acute inpatient and outpatient rehabilitation services (50 bed capacity) to patients from Ballito and surrounding inland areas.

#### 3.3 Sample

#### 3.3.1 Sample Size

For a larger study, Von Hoorhis & Morgan (2007) suggests that for regression equations with at least six predictors, a sample of a minimum of 10 participants per variable is appropriate. For a larger study, determining ankle involvement in knee hyperextension would include six predictors namely: ankle muscle strength, muscle tone and ankle ROM, which were subdivided into ankle dorsiflexion and ankle plantarflexion components. Therefore, the sample size was calculated to be 6 x10 participants per predictor variable that equates to 60 participants. For this pilot study, the rule of thumb is ten percent of the sample size calculated for the larger study. However, when there is no previous information to base the sample size on, 12 participants is the recommended size (Julious, 2005).

#### 3.3.2 Sampling

Consecutive sampling was used in this study where all patients at the facilities specified in 3.2.1, who fit the inclusion criteria, were approached to take part in the study. Participants were assessed at the facility where they were currently receiving inpatient or outpatient therapy.

# 3.3.2.1 Inclusion Criteria

- Unilateral hemiplegia from a single clinical stroke, irrespective of the cause of stroke (including covid-19 related causes),
- Ability to walk independently (minimum of ten metres) either with or without an assistive device,
- No pathologies of the lower limb joints such as joint arthroplasty, fractures, osteoarthritis, or rheumatoid arthritis,
- Consenting adults (18 years and above)

# 3.3.2.2 Exclusion Criteria

 Unable to follow verbal instructions and demonstration (as determined by basic questions of orientation and reasoning to establish mental status as well as speaking)

# 3.4 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures

# 3.4.1 Demographic information:

A demographic information capture sheet (Appendix B) was used to document data on the participant's age, sex, months since stroke, affected side, type of assistive device used when walking, dominant side, height, weight and Covid-19 related questions (such as previous exposure and/or associated symptoms).

The participant data capture sheet (Appendix C) was used to document the information related to ankle and knee joint outcome measures the below.

# 3.4.2 Dynamometry to assess muscle strength of the ankle:

Manual muscle testing is commonly used by healthcare professionals to test the muscle strength of their patients affected by musculoskeletal or neurological conditions. It is both an objective measure to assess weakness in an individual, but also an essential method of measuring a patient's progress over time (Beaudart et al., 2019). In stroke patients, muscle strength correlates to functional independence in gait, stair climbing, ADLs, and transfers, and can be used as an indicator for length of inpatient stay, mortality, and long-term functional outcomes (Andrews and Bohannon, 2003).

The isokinetic dynamometer is the most reliable and reproducible instrument for measuring muscle strength but is difficult to use in persons with mobility problems, is expensive, and not easy to use (Andrews and Bohannon, 2003). Handheld dynamometers on the other hand are cost effective, portable, and can be used in nearly every clinical setting. In a clinical setting, handheld dynamometers are a convenient and appropriate method to test muscle strength with a high test-retest and inter-rater reliability in normal adult and in frail older population (Scott et al., 2004; Mentiplay et al., 2015). Isometric strength testing with the handheld dynamometer has also been established in the stroke population and it is for this reason that the researcher used the handheld dynamometer in this study (Mentiplay et al., 2018). Andrews and Bohannon (2003) found that the tester's muscle strength affected the reliability and validity of all the measurements using the handheld dynamometer if their strength was less than the participant's muscle they were testing. Thus, the tester must ensure that the strength of the participant's affected and unaffected lower limbs does not exceed their own upper limb strength (Andrews and Bohannon, 2003). Ankle dorsiflexion and ankle plantarflexion muscle strength were recorded using a handheld dynamometer and the procedure in terms of positioning, support and exact testing location are outlined in Appendix D.

#### 3.4.3 Modified Tardieu Scale to assess muscle tone of the muscles of the ankle:

The researcher used the Modified Tardieu Scale (MTS) as the outcome measure to test spasticity in this study due to its ability to determine dynamic muscle tone (Abolhasani et al., 2012) and to differentiate between the peripheral (soft tissue changes) and the neural contributions (overactive stretch reflex) of spasticity (Singh et al., 2011). Furthermore, the MTS is more effective than the Modified Ashworth Scale (MAS) in identifying spasticity and differentiating it from contracture (Glinsky, 2016). The MTS takes three measurements: R2, R1 and R2–R1 to measure spasticity. The R2 is measured at a slow velocity with the passive range of motion measured, while the R1 is measured at a fast velocity with the angle of muscle reaction. A larger R2-R1 value indicates spasticity, while a smaller R2-R1 value indicates muscle contracture (Abolhasani et al., 2012). Lastly, the quality of muscle reaction is graded based on 0– 4 score.

Banky et al. (2019) found that there is a large degree of variability of intra- and intertester values. The inter-rater variability was almost double the intra-rater variability with the largest variability existing at the ankle joint when it came to testing velocity when using the MTS to assess for lower limb spasticity (Banky et al., 2019). Singh et al. (2011) found that the intra-rater reliability of the MTS was very good when measuring values for R1, R2, and R2-R1 of the ankle plantarflexors. The final MTS score (intraclass correlation coefficient > 0.85, *P*<0.0001) was very good for ankle plantarflexor muscle tone assessment over two different sessions. The MTS was therefore selected as the preferred reliable clinical tool to measure spasticity in ankle plantarflexors and dorsiflexors in this study and the procedure in terms of positioning, velocity, and measurement of quality of reaction are outlined in Appendix E.

#### 3.4.4 Digital inclinometer to measure ankle joint passive range of motion:

Accurate measuring of joint range of motion is often required in both clinical practice and in research, and is usually measured with a digital inclinometer, goniometer, or using a video-based system (Vohralik et al., 2015). Digital inclinometers can be expensive, and with the advances in smartphone technology, there is a move towards using smartphone application to measure joint range of motion (Konor et al., 2012). A digital inclinometer on a smartphone has been found to be a valid and reliable tool to measure joint ROM and both easily accessible and inexpensive (Konor et al., 2012). When comparing standard goniometer, digital inclinometer, and a tape measure in a weight-bearing lunge position to obtain ankle dorsiflexion ROM, Konor et al. (2012) found that the digital inclinometer resulted in higher reliability coefficients (intraclass correlation coefficient = 0.96-0.99), while the goniometer had an intraclass correlation coefficient =0.85-0.96. These findings indicated that the digital inclinometer was more sensitive to ROM changes (minimal detectable change =  $3.8^{\circ}$ ) compared to the goniometer (minimal detectable change =  $7.7^{\circ}$ ). Vohralik et al. (2015) compared an inclinometer application installed on a phone (*iHandy Level*) and an inclinometer on ankle dorsiflexion ROM of 20 participants using a weight-bearing lunge test. Intraclass correlation coefficients of the digital inclinometer on a smartphone demonstrated excellent intra-rater (0.97) and inter-rater reliability (0.76). Both studies show excellent reliability of the test. These aforementioned studies as well as studies by Banwell et al. (2019) and Cox et al. (2018) all suggest that there is good to excellent intra and interrater reliability when using a smartphone inclinometer application to measuring ankle joint ranges of motion using the weight bearing lunge test for ankle dorsiflexion and a non-weightbearing position to measure ankle plantarflexion. The weight-bearing lunge test is thought to be more accurate when measuring ankle dorsiflexion range of motion

and may be more reliable (ICC=0.93- 0.96) than a non-weight-bearing position (ICC 0.32-0.72) (Venturini et al., 2006; Bennell et al., 1998). A weight-bearing position also reflects the available range of motion during functional activities such as walking ambulation (Venturini et al., 2006). The researcher therefore used the smartphone inclinometer as the preferred reliable clinical tool to measure ankle joint passive ROM in this study (Appendix F). Ankle dorsiflexion was measured with an inclinometer while the participant performed a weightbearing lunge test against a wall, while ankle plantarflexion ROM was measured in a supine position (Appendix F).

# 3.4.5 Video analysis of gait:

Analysis of movement is an important clinical and research tool to assess joint kinematics and changes in ROM, and muscle activity during activities such as walking. Gait analysis has been historically performed in motion laboratories with expensive equipment which requires extensive training (Tan et al., 2015). Kinovea movement analysis software (Appendix G) was used to analyse knee joint angles during gait in this study.

Puig-Diví et al. (2017) assessed the validity and reliability of angular and distance data measured using Kinovea movement analysis software. Kinovea is an open-access, 2D motion analysis software, which has been used in sports, research work, and in clinical settings (Puig-Diví et al., 2017). Angles of the joints of the lower limb were simulated during walking and captured and analysed at four different perspectives – 45, 60, 75, and 90 degrees. The results (ICC = 1) indicate that Kinovea software is an accurate and reliable instrument when measuring angular and distance data up to five metres from the object and at an angle of 90 degrees (Puig-Diví et al., 2017).

# 3.5 Procedure

# 3.5.1 Pre-testing of procedures and outcome measures

The researcher conducted a pre-test in order to familiarise herself with the different outcome measures and testing procedures, and the time taken to perform the tests. This was conducted at one of the facilities who granted permission for the pilot study and included two participants. There were no key features that needed to be altered and therefore the results were included into the pilot study.

### 3.5.2 The pilot study

## 3.5.2.1 Participant Recruitment:

Physiotherapists working at both rehabilitation units were asked to screen their patients for potential study participants, which included determining if their patients fit the inclusion criteria for the study (patients had to be adults and have had only a single clinical stroke with hemiplegia, be able to walk independently (minimum of ten metres) either with or without an assistive device, have no pathologies of the lower limb joints such as joint arthroplasty, fractures, osteoarthritis, or rheumatoid arthritis, and be able to sign informed consent). Phone calls to the two study settings were done biweekly to attain the names and contact details of the patients who fit the inclusion criteria and appointments were made for the data collection. On the day of the appointment, the researcher explained the study and gave all potential participants a study information sheet (see Appendix H) in the presence of a witness (their treating therapist, nurse, or unit manager). The potential participants were allowed to have time to read through the information sheet and the study was explained to potential participants in a language that they understood. The researcher is fluent in English and Afrikaans and a translator did not have to be made available as all the participants were able to fully understand English. Potential participants were allowed to also ask any questions and the researcher clarified all gueries regarding the study. All potential participants who agreed to participate in this study signed a consent form before the researcher recorded all their data (Appendix I). Only one facility was visited each day to limit travelling between multiple hospitals during the Covid-19 level three and four national lockdowns.

# 3.5.2.2 Data collection procedure:

# 3.5.2.2.1 Muscle strength testing of the ankle:

Each participant was asked to do three isometric contractions (maximal) for both muscle groups on both the affected and unaffected sides being tested. The isometric contractions were held for three seconds, and the average of the maximal isometric contractions was used for data analysis.

#### 3.5.2.2.2 Muscle tone testing of the ankle:

The MTS identifies the point in the muscle's range where velocity-dependent spasticity occurs (Cerebral Palsy Alliance, 2018). The dynamic spasticity of a muscle is the relationship between R1 and R2 and is calculated by subtracting R1 from R2. Three measurements were taken on the affected side, and the average of these

measurements was used for data analysis. The quality of muscle reaction was measured using a grading system (Fayazi et al., 2014) specified in Appendix E.

# 3.5.2.2.3 Ankle joint range of motion testing:

Three measures of the dorsiflexion lunge test and ankle plantarflexion ROM on both the affected and unaffected sides were recorded, and for data analysis, the average of these measures of both tests on each lower limb was used (Cox et al., 2018).

3.5.2.2.4 Video capturing of gait over a distance of ten metres:

Three coloured stickers were placed on the participant's paretic lower limb: over the greater trochanter, over the lateral femoral epicondyle, and over the lateral malleolus (Cooper et al., 2012) (Appendix G). The participant was asked to then walk a distance of 10 meters at their own chosen speed. The walkway was demarcated with tape and the same walkway was used every time at each testing site. The participants were all asked to remove their shoes, but their chosen assistive device could be used for the walking. The camera was placed at a 90-degree angle less than five metres away from the participant, at the level of their knee as they walked (Puig-Diví et al., 2017). The video was imported into Kinovea movement analysis software and the ankle, knee, and hip angles of the affected side were measured during the three different stance sub-phases.

# 3.5.2.2.5 Data Management:

All data were recorded on a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet in preparation for data analysis.

# 3.5.2.2.6 Health safety:

Due to the prevailing Covid-19 pandemic, the researcher adhered to strict infection control protocol and wore the required personal protective equipment. All equipment and working surfaces used during data collection was sanitised before and after testing. The coloured stickers used during gait analysis were disposed of after each use.

# 3.6 Ethical Considerations

The University of the Witwatersrand Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) granted ethical clearance (Appendix J). Written permission to include potential participants was obtained from the hospital manager and clinical heads of the rehabilitation units (Appendix K). Prior to commencing the study, potential participants signed written informed consent. Participants could withdraw from this study at any time, without any ramifications. The outcome measures used in this study were

performed in a safe, clinical setting, and did not pose harm to the participants. Participants were made to feel comfortable, and no areas of the body were unnecessarily exposed, and areas were exposed with the participant's consent and done so in a professional and respectful manner. The video recording did not include their face in order to protect their identity. Care was taken to ensure participants' safety by remaining close to the participant during the assessment session to ensure there was reduced risk of falling and injury and ensuring that the environment in which the assessment was taking place was well lit and free of any hazardous or obstacles. There was a consideration if the participants experienced any pain at the affected knee during the assessment, the patient could be given the contact details of a general practitioner at the hospital where they were currently receiving therapy, or the nearest facility, if there was no general practitioner at that facility. The treating physiotherapist would have been notified about the participant's knee pain, if they are not aware of it already, for further management. The contact details of the general practitioners were included in the information sheet. However, no participant experienced any pain during the assessment, and therefore, no referral was needed.

Information collected during this study was only used for the intended purpose of this study and no personal information relating to the participants was divulged during data collection nor in this research report. All participants were allocated a participant code known to the researcher only.

In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, extra precaution was taken to ensure participant safety. Any potential participants who presented with signs and symptoms of Covid-19 such as fever, sore throat, shortness of breath, fatigue, loss of smell and taste, discolouration of fingers and toes (WHO, 2020) and with a travel history to high-risk areas or exposure to someone with Covid-19 were only assessed after a self-quarantine period of 10-14 days and a negative Covid-19 test. Due to the rigorous screening and testing done at the facilities, no participants presented with signs and symptoms of Covid-19 on the day of assessment.

#### 3.7 Statistical Analyses

Using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS), statistical analysis was performed. The significant level was set at p < 0.05. Table 3.1 shows the statistical tests that were used in data analysis.

Objective	Outcome	Scale	Statistic Test
	Measure		
Demographics	Demographic	Age – nominal	Descriptive statistics - mean,
	capture sheet		standard deviation, ranges
		Sex –	Percentages and frequencies
		categorical	
		Months since	Descriptive statistics - mean,
		stroke –	standard deviation, ranges
		nominal	-
		Affected –	Percentages and frequencies
		categorical	Demonstration and fragmentation
		Dominant side –	Percentages and frequencies
			Deveenteree and frequencies
		Assistive device	Percentages and frequencies
		wolking (X/N)	
		Covid-19 -	Percentages and frequencies
		related	r creentages and requencies
		information	
		Height – ratio	Descriptive statistics - mean
		i i e i gi i e i i e i e	standard deviation, ranges
		Weight – ratio	Descriptive statistics - mean,
		Ū	standard deviation, ranges
Muscle	Handheld	Nominal	- Pearson's chi-squared test -
strength of the	dynamometer		correlation between ankle muscle
muscles of the	(lb)		strength and hyperextension of
ankle joint.			the knee.
			- Fisher's Exact test - if the
			conditions for the Pearson's chi-
			squared test were not met.
			- Pearson product-
		later col	moment correlation coefficient
the muscles of	IVI I S	Interval,	- R2-R1 ankle plantamexion and
the ankle joint		nominai	Kolmogorov Smirnov tost (K S
			test) - normal distribution of R2-
			R1
			- Pearson's chi-squared test -
			correlation between the R2-R1
			measurement and knee
			hyperextension.
			- Pearson product-
			moment correlation coefficient
Ankle joint	Inclinometer	Interval	- Pearson's chi-squared test -
range of	(degrees)		assess the correlation between
motion.			ankle ROM and knee
			hyperextension.
			- Fisher's Exact test - if the
			conditions for the Pearson's chi-
		1	squared test were not met.

Table 3.1 - Statistical tests that were used to analyse the collected data

To analyse knee joint angles during stance phase of gait.	Kinovea movement analysis software	Ratio data	<ul> <li>Mean, standard deviation and ranges using descriptive statistics</li> </ul>
To determine the association between the ankle components assessed and knee hyperextension during stance phase.			<ul> <li>Pearson's correlation coefficient test - assess the correlation between the independent variables - muscle strength and muscle tone, or muscle tone and altered ankle joint ROM etc.</li> <li>Multiple regression - to assess how the factors affecting the ankle predict hyperextension of the knee in the stance phase.</li> </ul>

# 3.8 Summary

This chapter outlined the instrumentation, outcome measures, and methods used to for this study. All the participants' anonymity was maintained, and the data used to perform quantitative research as described in this study.

# Chapter 4 Results

#### 4.1 Introduction

This section reports the demographics of the participants as well as the participants' ankle muscle strength, muscle tone, and joint range of motion, and the knee angles during the stance phases of gait (initial contact, loading response and midstance). The association between the ankle components assessed and knee hyperextension during walking (stance phase) are also reported.

### 4.2 Description of sample

The pilot study included 12 participants (figure 4.1) where 10 were male (83.30%) and 2 were female (16.70%). The majority of participants had left hemiplegia compared to right hemiplegia (n=8, 66.7% vs n=4, 33.3%) and all participants were right side dominant. Half of the participants did not require an assistive device (50%), while two participants required a crutch for longer distances community/outdoor mobility (16.7%), and four participants required a quadrupod (33.3%).



Figure 4.1. Flow diagram of selection of participants

The youngest participant was 27 years old and the oldest was 77 years. The mean age of the participants was 52.25 ( $\pm$  15.51) years. The mean of months since stroke onset was 5.48 months ( $\pm$  5.15) and the mean height was 173.50cm ( $\pm$  10.20). The mean weight of the participants was 86.83kg ( $\pm$  27.45), which was not normally distributed (as indicated with a kurtosis of greater than three in Table 7.3 – Appendix Q) and would normalize given a larger sample size.

#### 4.3 Feasibility of the study

### 4.3.1 Time taken to recruit participants

Five private healthcare rehabilitation facilities were originally approached for permission to conduct this study at their facility. However, three out of the five private healthcare rehabilitation facilities in Durban were approached but either did not have appropriate potential participants or declined to have an external researcher on their premises due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Recruitment for 12 participants commenced in December 2020 and ended in October 2021 (ten months). Consecutive sampling was used to recruit potential participants.

# 4.3.2 Visit to facilities

Physiotherapists working at both rehabilitation units were asked to screen their patients for potential study participants, which included determining if their patients fit the inclusion criteria for the study. Phone calls to the two study settings were done biweekly to attain the names and contact details of the patients who fit the inclusion criteria and appointments were made for the data collection. Ten visits were done to the two study sites, and no more than two potential participants were identified at the same time, meaning that a cluster of testing could not be performed in a single visit.

#### 4.3.3 Time taken to complete each assessment

The demographic information capture sheet took approximately five minutes to complete. The handheld dynamometry to assess muscle strength of the ankle was an easy-to-use outcome measure and is convenient, and the testing took less than one minute to complete and was completed first after the demographic information was collected. Testing spasticity using the Modified Tardieu Scale took approximately five minutes and was the second-completed outcome measure. A digital inclinometer on a smartphone was used to measure ankle joint passive range of motion. Ankle dorsiflexion was measured with an inclinometer while the participant performed a weightbearing lunge test against a wall, while ankle plantarflexion ROM was measured in a supine position. Three measures of the dorsiflexion lunge test and ankle plantarflexion ROM on both the affected and unaffected sides were recorded. This test was performed third and took approximately five minutes to test. The participant was asked to then walk a distance of 10 meters at their own chosen speed which took
approximately two minutes to complete. The total time taken to complete the assessment was approximately twenty minutes.

# 4.4 Description of the biomechanics of the ankle complex

# 4.4.1 Muscle Strength

Muscle strength data of the unaffected and affected dorsiflexors and plantarflexors are depicted in Table 4.2 below and are normally distributed according to the Shapiro-Wilk test except plantarflexion muscle strength of the unaffected ankle (0.03) (Table 4.2). There was a significant difference between dorsiflexion muscle strength (F= 1.26; p= 0.27; Cohen's d= 3.56) and plantarflexion muscle strength (F = 0.38; p= 0.55; Cohen's d= 4.57) of the affected ankle as compared to the unaffected ankle, with the muscle strength of the unaffected side showing larger means than the affected side (Table 4.3). This is consistent with the hemiparetic clinical presentation.

	Min	Мах	Maan	Std.	Chow		Kunte		Chari		6112
	IVIII1	IVIAX	wean	Dev.	Skew	ness	KURC		Snapii	0-77	lik
						Sta.		Sta.			
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error	Statistic	df	Sig.
Dorsiflexion	4.00	20.00	11.67	4.15	.12	.64	.75	1.23	.97	12	.90
(unaffected)											
Plantarflexion	4.83	26.67	12.93	5.20	1.51	.64	4.73	1.23	.84	12	.03
(unaffected)											
Dorsiflexion	.00	10.00	6.08	2.85	750	.64	.53	1.23	.95	12	.69
(affected)											
Plantarflexion	.00	17.00	8.39	3.85	.14	.64	3.60	1.23	.85	12	.04
(affected)											

Table 4.2 – Muscle strength of the ankle distribution data (n=12)

# Table 4.3 – Comparison of muscle strength between affected and unaffected ankle joints

		Leve Test Equal Varia	ne's for ity of nces	t-test for Equality of Means						
						Sig. (2-	Mean	Std. Error	95% C Inter Dif	Confidence val of the ference
		F	Sig.	Т	df	tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
Dorsiflexion	Equal variances assumed	1.26	.27	3.84	22	.001	5.58	1.454	2.57	8.60
Plantarflexion	Equal variances assumed	.38	.55	2.43	22	.02	4.54	1.87	.67	8.41

#### 4.4.2 Muscle tone

Muscle tone of the tibialis anterior and gastrocnemius was assessed on the affected lower limb. Passive muscle tone of the gastrocnemius measured with a slow velocity had a mean of 1.03 ( $\pm$  8.46), with a rapid velocity stretch had a mean of -6.25 ( $\pm$  8.54), and the R2-R1 dynamic muscle tone measurement had a mean of 7.17 ( $\pm$  7.26). Passive muscle tone of the tibialis anterior measured with a slow velocity had a mean of 42.64 ( $\pm$  5.33), with a rapid velocity stretch had a mean of 41.59 ( $\pm$  5.63), and the R2-R1 dynamic muscle tone measurement had a mean of 0.97 ( $\pm$  1.47) (Table 4.4). The data of muscle tone of the ankle is normally distributed according to the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test except the dynamic muscle tone of tibialis anterior muscle tone of the muscle (R2-R1) [highlighted in Table 7.4 – Appendix Q] (0.03). The quality of the muscle reaction was also measured for the affected tibialis anterior and gastrocnemius muscles. The gastrocnemius had more varied muscle reaction qualities ranging from zero to four, while the tibialis anterior was only given a zero or one rating (Table 4.5).

Table 4.5 - Qu	ality of	muscle	reaction	for	tibialis	anterior	and	gastrocnem	ius
muscle tone									

Qı	ality of muscle reaction	Gastrocnemius	Tibialis anterior
		n(%)	n(%)
0	No resistance throughout the course of the passive movement	3 (25)	6 (50)
1	Slight resistance through the course of passive movement; no clear "catch" at a precise angle	1 (8.3)	6 (50)
2	Clear catch at a precise angle, interrupting the passive movement, followed by release	7 (58.3)	0 (0)
3	Fatigable clonus (10s when maintaining the pressure) appearing at a precise angle	0 (0)	0 (0)
4	Un-fatigable clonus (more than 10s when maintaining the pressure) at a precise angle	1 (8.3)	0 (0)
5	Joint is immovable	0 (0)	0 (0)

## 4.4.3 Ankle range of motion

Joint range of movement (ROM) of the unaffected dorsiflexion had a mean of 29.62 ( $\pm$  5.55), and its affected counterpart had a mean of 24.99 ( $\pm$  7.12). The unaffected plantarflexion ROM had a mean of 33.40 ( $\pm$  6.46), while the affected plantarflexion had a mean of 31.73 ( $\pm$  7.64) (Table 7.5 – Appendix Q). The data of ROM of the ankle is normally distributed according to the Shapiro-Wilk test (Table 4.6). Comparing the affected versus unaffected ankles, there was not a significant difference between

plantarflexion ROM (F= 2.15; p= 0.16) as well as dorsiflexion ROM (F= 0.43; p= 0.52) (Table 4.7).

		Leve Test Equal Varia	ne's for ity of nces	t-test for Equality of Means						
						Sig. (2-	Mean	Std. Error	95% Co Interva Diffe	nfidence al of the rence
		F	Sig.	t	df	tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
ROM plantarflexion	Equal variances assumed	2.15	.16	.78	22	.45	2.24	2.89	-3.75	8.23
ROM dorsiflexion	Equal variances assumed	.43	.52	1.78	22	.09	4.63	2.61	78	10.04

Table 4.7 – Comparison of ROM between affected and unaffected ankle joints

#### 4.3.4 Gait analysis: changes in knee angles during stance phase

The angle of the knee of the hemiparetic side was measured at each phase of stance phase during gait. Twenty five percent of participants presented with knee hyperextension during stance phase of gait. Initial contact phase had a mean knee angle of 10.51 ( $\pm$  6.61), heel strike phase had a mean knee angle of 13.87 ( $\pm$  10.03), midstance phase had a mean knee angle of 12.58 ( $\pm$  11.29), terminal stance phase had a mean knee angle of 18.76 ( $\pm$  4.47) (Table 4.8). The data of the knee angles measured is normally distributed according to the Shapiro-Wilk test with the knee angles showing greater knee flexion during stance phase, according to the norms (Table 7.6- Appendix Q).

# 4.4.5 Association during gait stance phase between the ankle components assessed and knee hyperextension

The correlation tests between decreased tibialis anterior muscle tone and knee angles (increased knee flexion) showed a strong and positive relationship to the hemiparetic knee angles during stance phase of gait ( $R_{12} = .662$ ; p-.019) (Table 4.9). There was a significant relationship between tibialis anterior muscle tone and knee angles at initial contact (p=0.04), terminal (p=0.01), or pre-swing (p=0.01), while there was no significance at loading response (p=0.09) and midstance (p=0.07). Gastrocnemius muscle tone was not significantly related to the knee angles at initial contact (p=0.32), loading response (p=0.29), midstance (p=0.54), terminal (p=0.13), or pre-swing (p=0.26).

Dorsiflexion muscle strength of the affected ankle was not significantly related to the knee angles at initial contact (p=0.12), loading response (p=0.43), midstance (p=0.99), terminal (p=0.65), or pre-swing (p=0.70). Plantarflexion muscle strength of the affected ankle was not significantly related to the knee angles at initial contact (p=0.97), loading response (p=0.98), midstance (p=0.98), terminal (p=0.38), or pre-swing (p=0.23). Dorsiflexion ROM was not significantly related to the knee angles at initial contact (p=0.49), loading response (p=0.68), midstance (p=0.87), terminal (p=0.58), or preswing (p=0.75). Plantarflexion ROM was not significantly related to the knee angles at initial contact (p=0.49), loading response (p=0.65), midstance (p=0.50), terminal (p=0.50), terminal (p=0.48), or pre-swing (p=0.20).

In the test between subject effects, there was no significance between the dependent and independent variables. However, it showed 38.2% variance in the hemiparetic knee angles from dorsiflexion muscle strength (R square=0.382), 29.9% in the hemiparetic knee angles from plantarflexion muscle strength, 53% variance in the hemiparetic knee angles from plantarflexion ROM, 18.3% in the hemiparetic knee angles from dorsiflexion ROM, 71.9% variance in the hemiparetic knee angles from gastrocnemius muscle tone, and 46.1% variance in the hemiparetic knee angles from tibialis anterior muscle tone (Table 4.11). A multiple regression was conducted and revealed that dorsiflexion and plantarflexion muscle strength; dorsiflexion and plantarflexion ROM; as well as tibialis anterior and gastrocnemius muscle tone did not impact the knee angles (Table 4.12). Further analysis also confirmed that none of the knee angles have statistically significant coefficients.

Table 4.9 – Correlation between muscle tone of the ankle and hemiparetic knee angles during stance phase of gait (n=12)

		R2-R1 Ankle	R2-R1 Ankle	
		Plantarflexion	Dorsiflexion	Knee Angles
R2-R1 Plantarflexion	Pearson Correlation	1	.39	.66*
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.22	.02
R2-R1 Dorsiflexion	Pearson Correlation	.39	1	.33
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.22		.29
Knee Angles	Pearson Correlation	.66*	.33	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.02	.29	

\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 4.	10 – Co	rrelation	data	between	ankle	muscle	strength,	ankle	range of
motion, a	and hen	niparetic	knee a	angles du	iring th	ne stance	e phases c	of gait (	(n=12)

		Muscle strength dorsiflex ion	Muscle strength plantarflex ion	ROM plantarflex ion	ROM dorsiflex ion	Initial conta ct	Loadin g respon se	Midsta nce	Termi nal stance	Pre- swi ng
Muscle strength dorsiflexio n	Pearson Correlat ion									
Muscle strength plantarfle	Pearson Correlat ion	.607**								
xion	Sig. (2- tailed)	.002								
ROM plantarfle xion	Pearson Correlat ion	.245	.499*							
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.249	.013							
ROM dorsiflexio n	Pearson Correlat ion	.447*	.056	229						
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.028	.793	.281						
Initial contact	Pearson Correlat ion	469	014	220	.222					
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.124	.966	.493	.488					
Loading response	Pearson Correlat ion	254	008	.146	.135	.654*				
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.426	.979	.651	.677	.021				
Midstance	Pearson Correlat ion	003	.009	.219	.055	.452	.850**			
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.993	.977	.495	.865	.140	.000			
Terminal stance	Pearson Correlat ion	.146	.277	.226	176	.307	.655*	.808**		
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.651	.384	.481	.584	.331	.021	.001		
Pre-swing	Pearson Correlat ion	124	.373	.398	105	.478	.470	.571	.670*	
	Sig. (2- tailed)	.700	.233	.200	.745	.116	.123	.052	.017	

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed). \*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

# Table 4.11 – Tests between subject-effects (n=12)

Source	Dependent Variable	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
	Muscle Strength DF	5	14.51	.74	.62
	Muscle Strength PF	5	17.79	.51	.76
	ROM_PF	5	48.60	1.35	.36
Corrected Model	ROM_DF	5	12.39	.27	.92
	R2-R1 Ankle Plantarflexion	5	3.44	3.07	.10
	R2-R1 Ankle Dorsiflexion	5	53.43	1.03	.48
	Muscle Strength DF	1	123.54	6.32	.05
	Muscle Strength PF	1	9.64	.28	.62
	ROM_PF	1	112.12	3.12	.13
Intercept	ROM_DF	1	360.27	7.79	.03
	R2-R1 Ankle Plantarflexion	1	.82	.73	.43
	R2-R1 Ankle Dorsiflexion	1	1.17	.02	.89
Initial contact	Muscle Strength DF	1	6.37	.33	.59
	Muscle Strength PF	1	3.96	.11	.75
	ROM_PF	1	165.80	4.62	.08
	ROM_DF	1	7.74	.17	.70
	R2-R1 Ankle Plantarflexion	1	2.66	2.38	.17
	R2-R1 Ankle Dorsiflexion	1	6.45	.12	.74
Loading response	Muscle Strength DF	1	11.32	.58	.48
	Muscle Strength PF	1	1.93	.06	.82
	ROM_PF	1	44.84	1.25	.31
	ROM_DF	1	.03	.001	.98
	R2-R1 Ankle Plantarflexion	1	.21	.19	.68
	R2-R1 Ankle Dorsiflexion	1	28.72	.55	.49
Midstance	Muscle Strength DF	1	4.49	.23	.65
	Muscle Strength PF	1	25.37	.73	.43
	ROM_PF	1	1.04	.03	.87
	ROM_DF	1	9.54	.21	.67
	R2-R1 Ankle Plantarflexion	1	.13	.11	.75
	R2-R1 Ankle Dorsiflexion	1	114.89	2.21	.19
Terminal stance	Muscle Strength DF	1	11.13	.57	.48
	Muscle Strength PF	1	18.35	.53	.50
	ROM_PF	1	26.21	.73	.43
	ROM_DF	1	24.02	.52	.50
	R2-R1 Ankle Plantarflexion	1	3.39	3.03	.13
	R2-R1 Ankle Dorsiflexion	1	134.05	2.58	.16
Pre-swing	Muscle Strength DF	1	5.13	.26	.63
	Muscle Strength PF	1	26.62	.77	.42
	ROM_PF	1	149.91	4.18	.09
	ROM_DF	1	1.98	.04	.84
	R2-R1 Ankle Plantarflexion	1	.24	.21	.66
	R2-R1 Ankle Dorsiflexion	1	.18	.003	.96
Error	Muscle Strength DF	6	19.54		

Muscle Strength PF	6	34.71	
ROM_PF	6	35.90	
ROM_DF	6	46.24	
R2-R1 Ankle Plantarflexion	6	1.12	
R2-R1 Ankle Dorsiflexion	6	52.05	

Table 4.12 – Multiple re	gression and tests betwee	en subject-effects (n=12)
--------------------------	---------------------------	---------------------------

	Variance	F (df)	Significance
Muscle strength DF	38.2%	0.74 (5,6)	0.62
Muscle strength PF	29.9%	0.51 (5,6)	0.76
ROM DF	18.3%	0.27 (5,6)	0.92
ROM PF	53.0%	1.35 (5,6)	0.36
Muscle tone DF	46.1%	1.03 (5,6)	0.48
Muscle tone PF	71.9%	3.07 (5,6)	0.10

#### 4.4 Summary of main results

This chapter presented descriptive and normative data of ankle muscle strength, ankle muscle tone, ankle ROM, and knee angles during stance phase of gait, and the correlations between these variables. There were positive associations between dorsiflexion and plantarflexion muscle strength of the affected lower limb (p < 0.002); dorsiflexion ROM and dorsiflexion muscle strength (p < 0.03); as well as tibialis anterior muscle tone and the hemiparetic knee angles during heel strike, terminal stance, and pre-swing phases (p < 0.04, p < 0.01 and p < 0.01 respectively). The results of the data analysis showed that there was no association between muscle strength and range of motion of the ankle, and knee hyperextension during stance phase of gait. Decreased tibialis muscle tone was seen in participants who presented with increased knee flexion during stance phase and does not seem to not play a role in knee hyperextension. But conclusions cannot be drawn from these results based on the small sample size and the heterogeneity of the participants. The next chapter will discuss these finding in relation to current literature.

# Chapter 5 Discussion

#### 5.1 Introduction

The aim of this study was to determine the association between ankle joint function and hyperextension of the knee in hemiparetic stroke patients during stance phase of gait as well as to determine the feasibility of the study design. Tibialis anterior and gastrocnemius muscle strength for ankle dorsiflexion and plantarflexion, respectively, were measured using a dynamometer for both the affected and unaffected lower limbs. Muscle tone of the ankle joint (tibialis anterior for ankle dorsiflexion, and gastrocnemius for ankle plantarflexion) was measured using the Modified Tardieu Scale (MTS). Range of motion of ankle dorsiflexion and plantarflexion was measured using an inclinometer. Knee joint angles during gait (stance phase) were measured using motion analysis software.

This chapter discusses the feasibility of this pilot study and the findings relating to ankle function and knee hyperextension in relation to available literature.

#### 5.2 Recruitment procedures

Five private healthcare rehabilitation facilities were originally approached for permission to conduct this study at their facility to include most of Durban south, Durban central, Durban north, Umhlanga, Ballito, and Pinetown's catchment area. However, three out of the five private healthcare rehabilitation facilities in Durban were approached but either did not have appropriate potential participants or declined to have an external researcher on their premises due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Such ethical challenges have been experienced during the Covid-19 pandemic where access to hospitals and patients has been restricted to prioritise participant safety and to accommodate the requirement for social distancing to halt the spread of the virus (Bierer et al., 2020). For a larger study, it is advised that a large catchment area is included and perhaps to include both private and public healthcare facilities. The testing time was reasonable at approximately 20 minutes per participant and the time could be further shortened with the addition of a research assistant, who could set up the testing area and scribe while the researcher is performing the tests.

#### 5.3 Sample size

For this pilot study, the rule of thumb is ten percent of the sample size calculated for the larger study. However, when there is no previous information to base the sample size on, 12 participants is the recommended size (Julious, 2005).

### 5.4 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria were designed to not exclude too many potential participants from the study, but still not have other variables affect the results. However, with the lack of participants (twenty five percent) presenting with knee hyperextension, it is advised that an additional inclusion criterion be that the participant should present with knee hyperextension on their hemiparetic side. Forty to 60% of the stroke population present with hyperextension of the knee while walking (Cooper et al., 2012), and therefore it should be added as an inclusion criterion.

#### 5.5 Appropriateness of instruments

A demographic information capture sheet was used to document data on the participant's age, sex, months since stroke, affected side, type of assistive device used when walking, dominant side, height, weight and Covid-19 related questions (such as previous exposure and/or associated symptoms). Additional information could be added to this capture sheet to gain a better clinical presentation of the participant. Type of stroke, cause of stroke and co-morbidities should be asked to gain the clinical features of the participant. Balance, mobility status and the functional level of the participant should be measured with appropriate outcomes measures.

Handheld dynamometry to assess muscle strength of the ankle was an easy-to-use outcome measure and is convenient and appropriate method to test muscle strength with a high test-retest and inter-rater reliability in normal adult and in frail older population (Scott et al., 2004; Mentiplay et al., 2015). Isometric strength testing with the handheld dynamometer has also been established in the stroke population and it is for this reason that the researcher used the handheld dynamometer in this study (Mentiplay et al., 2018). Andrews and Bohannon (2003) found that the tester's muscle strength affected the reliability and validity of all the measurements using the handheld dynamometer if their strength was less than the participant's muscle they were testing. Thus, the tester must ensure that the strength of the participant's affected and

unaffected lower limbs (Andrews and Bohannon, 2003). Each participant was asked to do three isometric contractions (maximal) for both muscle groups on both the affected and unaffected sides being tested. The isometric contractions were held for three seconds, and the average of the maximal isometric contractions was used for data analysis. Therefore, the testing took less than one minute to complete and was completed first.

The researcher used the Modified Tardieu Scale (MTS) as the outcome measure to test spasticity in this study due to its ability to determine dynamic muscle tone (Abolhasani et al., 2012) and to differentiate between the peripheral (soft tissue changes) and the neural contributions (overactive stretch reflex) of spasticity (Singh et al., 2011). Furthermore, the MTS is more effective than the Modified Ashworth Scale (MAS) in identifying spasticity and differentiating it from contracture (Glinsky, 2016). Three measurements were taken on the affected side. The quality of muscle reaction was measured using a grading system (Fayazi et al., 2014). This testing took approximately five minutes and was the second-completed outcome measure.

A digital inclinometer on a smartphone was used to measure ankle joint passive range of motion. Ankle dorsiflexion was measured with an inclinometer while the participant performed a weightbearing lunge test against a wall, while ankle plantarflexion ROM was measured in a supine position. Three measures of the dorsiflexion lunge test and ankle plantarflexion ROM on both the affected and unaffected sides were recorded. This test was performed third and took approximately five minutes to test.

Analysis of movement is an important clinical and research tool to assess joint kinematics and changes in ROM, and muscle activity during activities such as walking. The participant was asked to then walk a distance of 10 meters at their own chosen speed. The camera was placed at a 90-degree angle less than five metres away from the participant, at the level of their knee as they walked (Puig-Diví et al., 2017). The video was imported into Kinovea movement analysis software and the ankle, knee, and hip angles of the affected side were measured during the three different stance sub-phases. For better reliability and accuracy, the camera could be placed on a tripod with wheels so that it is kept at the same angle and distance from the participant's knee for the entire walk. Some literature reports that the use of reflective markers as used in optoelectronic systems such as Vicon is more accurate and could be considered in

place of plain coloured stickers (Van der Kruk and Reijne, 2018). The knee angle norms were compared to accepted norms as per the literature normal range and zero line, however in hindsight, each patient to be analysed and compare their affected with unaffected side.

## 5.6 Participants

## 5.6.1 Demographic data

The study only included individuals poststroke who could walk independently, and the mean months since stroke onset was 5.48 months, and Veerbeek et al. (2011) found that 60 to 80% of stroke survivors can walk independently by six months following a stroke (Veerbeek et al., 2011). All of the participants were right-hand dominant while the hemiparetic side of the participants was distributed with majority of the participants having left-sided hemiplegia than right-sided hemiplegia. This distribution is not what has been seen in the literature as several studies have shown that left-sided strokes (right-sided hemiplegia) are more frequent than right-sided strokes (left-sided hemiplegia) (Foerch et al., 2005; Hedna et al., 2013; Hernández et al., 2003). The greater distribution of left hemiplegia among the predominant right-handed participants, means they would be less affected in unilateral fine motor tasks such as writing and eating but may still have difficulty in bilateral upper limb tasks such as doing up buttons and cutting food. Right-sided strokes may result in problems with visuo-spatial perception, which would affect their balance and mobility especially in more complex environments (John Hopkins Medicine, 2021).

## 5.7 Muscle strength

Both tibialis anterior and gastrocnemius muscles play an important role in gait. The tibias anterior is active during initial contact (eccentric), loading response (eccentric), and pre-swing (concentric) (Loudon et al., 1998; Chui et al., 2020). The gastrocnemius muscle is active during midstance (eccentric), terminal stance (eccentric), and pre-swing (concentric) (Loudon et al., 1998; Chui et al., 2020). The researcher found significant weakness of both gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior muscles in this sample when compared to their unaffected side. Muscle weakness of the gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior muscles have been shown to be linked to knee hyperextension during stance phase (Sheffler and Chae, 2015; An and Won, 2016; Cooper et al., 2012). Cooper et al. (2012) suggest that tibialis anterior is active in early stance phase of gait to control foot descent to the floor and control the loading response, and weakness of

this muscle during these phases may contribute to knee hyperextension. The gastrocnemius muscle is thought to prevent rapid hyperextension of the knee, but the exact action of it in stance phase of gait is not well demonstrated in literature (Springer et al., 2013; Sheffler and Chae, 2015). While this study showed no significant relationship between muscle strength and the hemiparetic knee angles during stance phase of gait, muscle strength of the ankle showed 38.2% variance for dorsiflexion muscle strength, and 29.9% variance for plantarflexion muscle strength of the hemiparetic knee angles. As most of the participants presented during stance phase with increased knee flexion, this may show a greater link, during stance phase, between tibialis anterior muscle weakness and increased knee flexion, which is contradictory to Cooper et al. (2012).

#### 5.8 Muscle tone

The researcher found a greater dynamic component of spasticity in the gastrocnemius of the affected lower limb compared to the tibialis anterior, and greater phasic tone of the gastrocnemius. This was also apparent with the subjective rating of the quality of the muscle reaction. The gastrocnemius had more varied muscle reaction qualities ranging from zero to four with most having a rating of two (n=7), while the tibialis anterior was only given a zero or one rating. A study by Fayazi et al. (2014) on stroke patients measured gastrocnemius muscle tone using the MTS, and all of their thirty participants rated either a muscle reaction of two (n=10) or three (n=20). Tibialis anterior muscle tone had a strong and positive relationship to the hemiparetic knee angles during stance phase of gait ( $R_{12} = .662$ ; p-.019). Research suggests that increased muscle tone in the gastrocnemius muscle causes early contraction of the ankle plantarflexors at 'initial contact', pulling the tibia posteriorly while the femur travels forward, causing knee hyperextension (Balaban and Tok, 2014; Sheffler and Chae, 2015). This is not what was found in this study, as there was no significance between gastrocnemius muscle tone and knee hyperextension, however only 25 percent of participants presented with knee hyperextension and thus a conclusion cannot be drawn. This is further seen in the variance of the hemiparetic knee angles and muscle tone of the ankle. Gastrocnemius muscle tone created 46.1% variance, while tibialis anterior muscle tone created 71.9% variance in the hemiparetic knee angles. During stance phase, most of the participants presented with increased knee flexion, and so increased gastrocnemius muscle tone may still play a greater role in knee hyperextension than tibialis anterior muscle tone, which is what other literature

states and what we see in clinical practice (Balaban and Tok, 2014; Sheffler and Chae, 2015; Higginson et al., 2006). Decreased tibialis muscle tone was seen in participants who presented with increased knee flexion during stance phase and therefore seems to not play a role in knee hyperextension.

#### 5.9 Ankle joint range of motion

Although ankle ROM of the affected dorsiflexion and plantarflexion were less than the unaffected side, the researcher did not find any significant difference between the ankle ROM between affected and unaffected side. Nevertheless, decreased ankle ROM during stance phase of gait leads to the reduced ability to shift one's centre of mass, leading to instability and balance deficits during gait as well as soft tissue changes of the connective tissue and muscles of the ankle leading to biomechanical changes in gait (An and Won, 2016). The greater difference in ankle dorsiflexion ROM between the affected and unaffected lower limbs which the researcher observed ties in with the increased muscle tone of the gastrocnemius. Spasticity in the ankle plantarflexors results changes in ankle ROM, causing knee hyperextension at initial contact due to a lack of an antagonist muscle force (Higginson et al., 2006). While decreased ankle dorsiflexion ROM impedes the forward translation of the tibia over the foot, which leads to compensation at the knee and altered gait outcomes such as decreased step length, stride length, cadence, and walking speed (Ota et al., 2014). While this study showed no significant relationship between ankle ROM and the hemiparetic knee angles during stance phase of gait, ankle ROM of the ankle showed 53% variance for plantarflexion ROM, and 18.3% variance for dorsiflexion ROM on hemiparetic knee angles. As most of the participants presented with increased flexion of the knee rather than knee hyperextension during stance phase, it may show that a greater link with plantarflexion ROM and increased knee flexion.

#### 5.10 Knee angles during stance phase of gait

In hemiparetic gait, knee hyperextension can occur during the heel strike/initial contact phase, loading response phase, and midstance phase (Richardson et al., 2012). Interestingly, the researcher only had one participant presenting with "true" knee hyperextension (less than anatomical zero) during gait. Although not "true" knee hyperextension, five participants presented with knee angles less than the norm during loading response (knee was more extended), and three participants had knee hyperextension during terminal stance phase. Regardless of the hyperextension being

true or not, 40-60% of the stroke population present with hyperextension of the knee while walking (Cooper et al., 2012), which is similar to this researcher's findings. According to Balaban and Tok (2014) and Sheffler and Chae (2015), there are three distinctive knee patterns during stance phase in stroke patients: the first is increased flexion of the knee at initial contact, which is more commonly seen in the early poststroke period and is associated with poor quadriceps activation; the second is decreased knee flexion early on, followed by knee hyperextension in the later stance phases; and the third is excessive knee hyperextension throughout the entire stance phase, which is seen in more chronic stroke patients. The majority of participants presented with increased flexion of the knee in all the stance phases, with only decreased flexion of the knee in pre-swing. During pre-swing phase, all the participants had a more extended knee than the norm of 35-40°. This ties in with the early poststroke patients having increased flexion of the knee early on in stance phase.

# 5.11 Association between the ankle components assessed and knee hyperextension

Five participants presented with non-true knee hyperextension during loading response, and this may be due to lack of eccentric muscle strength of the tibialis anterior, while three participants presented with true knee hyperextension during terminal stance, which may be due to reduced eccentric gastrocnemius muscle strength, and all participants presented with non-true knee hyperextension in pre-swing, which may be influenced by both decreased gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior muscle strength.

Despite finding associations with dorsiflexion ROM and dorsiflexion muscle strength, both gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior muscle strength of the affected lower limb were not associated with the knee angles at initial contact, loading response, midstance, terminal, or pre-swing. During stance phase, most of the participants presented with increased knee flexion, and this may show a greater link between tibialis anterior muscle weakness and increased knee flexion. This is however contradictory to Cooper et al. (2012), who suggested that tibialis anterior is active in early stance phase of gait to control foot descent to the floor and control the loading response, and weakness of this muscle during these phases may contribute to knee hyperextension.

Plantarflexion and dorsiflexion ROM were also not associated with the knee angles at initial contact, loading response, midstance, terminal, or pre-swing in this study. This may be because passive ROM was measured in the study, and active ROM plays a greater role during walking. Literature suggests that decreased ankle ROM during stance phase of gait leads to the reduced ability to shift one's centre of mass, leading to instability and balance deficits during gait as it hinders the forward translation of the tibia over the foot, which leads to compensation at the knee and altered gait outcomes (An and Won, 2016; Ota et al., 2014).

The researcher confirmed dorsiflexion ROM and dorsiflexion muscle strength to be associated, which could suggest that if the tibialis anterior is strong enough, it may counteract the tone in the gastrocnemius and reduce the changes to ankle ROM into dorsiflexion. However, literature suggests that gastrocnemius spasticity causes reduced ankle dorsiflexion ROM as well as reduced plantarflexion muscle strength (Aggarwal et al., 2013; Ng and Hui-Chan, 2012), which is unsurprising as the gastrocnemius muscle is greater in size and can thus easily overpower the tibialis anterior muscle actions.

Tibialis anterior muscle tone had a strong and positive relationship to the hemiparetic knee angles during heel strike, terminal stance, and pre-swing phases, while gastrocnemius muscle tone was not significantly related to knee angles. The prevalence of spasticity post-stroke is suggested to be between 18 and 50% (Abolhasani et al., 2012; Singh et al., 2011). Literature suggests that increased muscle tone in gastrocnemius causes early contraction of the ankle plantarflexors at 'initial contact', pulling the tibia posteriorly while the femur travels forward, causing knee hyperextension (Balaban and Tok, 2014; Sheffler and Chae, 2015). However, this is not what the researcher found, as increased tibialis anterior muscle tone had a greater impact on the knee angles than gastrocnemius, but most of the participants presented with increased knee flexion during stance phase, and so increased gastrocnemius muscle tone may still play a greater role in knee hyperextension than tibialis anterior muscle tone, which is what we see in a clinical setting.

# 5.12 Summary of discussion

This chapter discussed the feasibility of this pilot study and the main findings of the study in relation to available literature. The next chapter concludes the study and give recommendation for the larger study.

# Chapter 6 Conclusion and Recommendations

#### 6.1 Conclusion

#### 6.1.1 Aim of the Study

This pilot study's aim was to determine if the study design is feasible for a larger study to determine the association between ankle muscle strength, muscle tone, and joint range of motion, and hyperextension of the knee in hemiparetic stroke patients during gait stance phase. Due to the restrictions of the Covid-19 pandemic, permission to conduct research was restricted at some healthcare facilities, which reduced the study pool. Recruitment for 12 participants commenced in December 2020 and ended in October 2021 (ten months), with no more than two potential participants were identified at the same time, meaning that a cluster of testing could not be performed in a single visit. The outcome measures selected were easy to use and not time-consuming to administer, and the entire assessment took approximately twenty minutes to complete. The demographic information capture sheet lacked in additional information to understand the clinical presentation of the participant. The inclusion criteria were designed to not exclude too many potential participants from the study, but still not have other variables affect the results. However, there was a lack of participants (twenty five percent) presenting with knee hyperextension. The results of the data analysis suggests that there may be no association between muscle strength and range of motion of the ankle, and knee hyperextension during stance phase of gait. However, there was a correlation between tibialis anterior muscle tone and knee hyperextension. But conclusions cannot be drawn from these results based on the small sample size and the heterogeneity of the participants.

#### 6.2 Limitations of the study and recommendation for future research

This being a pilot study, the researcher recommends that these results be considered with caution and not be generalised to the whole stroke population as this study was conducted with the purpose to precede a larger study. The smaller sample size may not have had a great enough statistical power to reduce a Type-II error. For a larger study, it is advised that a large catchment area is included and perhaps to include both private and public healthcare facilities.

In terms of the inclusion criteria, the criteria were designed to not exclude too many potential participants from the study, but still not have other variables affect the results. However, with the lack of participants (twenty five percent) presenting with knee hyperextension, it is advised that an additional inclusion criterion be that the participant should present with knee hyperextension on their hemiparetic side.

The demographic lacked information to accurately describe the participant's current clinical picture and level of disability. Additional information should be added to the demographic capture sheet to gain a better clinical presentation of the participant. Type of stroke, cause of stroke and co-morbidities should be asked to gain the clinical features of the participant. Balance, mobility status and the functional level of the participant should be measured with appropriate outcomes measures.

In terms of the other instrumentation and outcome measures, the tester must ensure that their upper limb strength is greater than the strength of the participant's affected and unaffected lower limbs when performing the handheld dynamometry muscle strength testing for greater reliability and validity of the outcome measure (Andrews and Bohannon, 2003). For the gait analysis recording, the camera should be placed on a tripod with wheels so that it is kept at the same angle and distance from the participant's knee for the entire walk, for greater reliability and accuracy. The use of reflective markers as used in optoelectronic systems such as Vicon is more accurate and could be considered in place of plain coloured stickers (Van der Kruk and Reijne, 2018). It is also important to note that knee hyperextension occurs in individuals without hemiplegia as well, and care should be taken to measure the unaffected knee to establish a patient's baseline as well as comparing them to the norm (Bains et al., 2019).

The researcher has shown feasibility of the methodology described in this study for a larger study to be conducted and we recommend that this research be conducted with modifications as stated above with a larger sample size to determine, during gait stance phase, the association between ankle joint function and knee hyperextension in hemiparetic stroke patients during gait stance phase.

## 6.3 Clinical/Practical Recommendations

Due to this study aimed to inform the methods for a larger study, the researcher does not recommend these findings for clinical practice. However, from the experience gained through data collection, the researcher recommends that the MTS is used over the MAS to test spasticity in this study due to its ability to determine dynamic muscle tone (Abolhasani et al., 2012) and to differentiate between the peripheral (soft tissue changes) and the neural contributions (overactive stretch reflex) of spasticity (Singh et al., 2011). Furthermore, the MTS is more effective than the Modified Ashworth Scale (MAS) in identifying spasticity and differentiating it from contracture (Glinsky, 2016). With the improvement and convenience of smartphones, a clinician is able to perform outcome measures such as ROM with an inclinometer application on their smartphone, and it has been found to be a valid and reliable tool to measure joint ROM and both easily accessible and inexpensive (Konor et al., 2012).

# References

- Abolhasani, H., Ansari, N.N., Naghdi, S., Mansouri, K., Ghotbi, N. and Hasson, S., 2012. Comparing the validity of the Modified Modified Ashworth Scale (MMAS) and the Modified Tardieu Scale (MTS) in the assessment of wrist flexor spasticity in patients with stroke: protocol for a neurophysiological study. *BMJ open*, 2(6), p.e001394.
- Aggarwal, D., Walia, S. and Noohu, M., 2013. Effect of plantarflexor spasticity and ankle joint range of motion on sit to stand movement in stroke patients. *Physiother Occup Ther J*, 6(1), pp.5-13.
- Akinyemi, R.O., Ovbiagele, B., Adeniji, O.A., Sarfo, F.S., Abd-Allah, F., Adoukonou, T., Ogah, O.S., Naidoo, P., Damasceno, A., Walker, R.W. and Ogunniyi, A., 2021. Stroke in Africa: profile, progress, prospects and priorities. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, *17*(10), pp.634-656.
- An, C.M., and Won, J.I. 2016. Effects of ankle joint mobilization with movement and weight-bearing exercise on knee strength, ankle range of motion, and gait velocity in patients with stroke: a pilot study. *Journal of physical therapy science*, 28(2), pp.689-694.
- Andrews, A.W. and Bohannon, R.W., 2003. Short-term recovery of limb muscle strength after acute stroke. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 84(1), pp.125-130.
- Appelros, P., Stegmayr, B. and Terént, A., 2009. Sex differences in stroke epidemiology: a systematic review. *Stroke*, *40*(4), pp.1082-1090.
- Avula, A., Nalleballe, K., Narula, N., Sapozhnikov, S., Dandu, V., Toom, S., Glaser, A. and Elsayegh, D., 2020. COVID-19 presenting as stroke. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, 87, pp.115-119.
- Bains, B.S., Khoshmaram, F. and Bains, M.S., 2019. The prevalence of hyperextended knee among adults: a cross-sectional survey. *Int J Aging Health Mov*, 1(1), pp.1-10.
- 9. Balaban, B. and Tok, F., 2014. Gait disturbances in patients with stroke. *PM&R*, *6*(7), pp.635-642.
- Banky, M., Clark, R.A., Pua, Y.H., Mentiplay, B.F., Olver, J.H. and Williams, G., 2019. Inter-and intra-rater variability of testing velocity when assessing lower limb spasticity. *Journal of rehabilitation medicine*, *51*(1), pp.54-60.
- 11. Banwell, H.A., Uden, H., Marshall, N., Altmann, C. and Williams, C.M., 2019. The iPhone Measure app level function as a measuring device for the weight

bearing lunge test in adults: a reliability study. *Journal of foot and ankle research*, *12*(1), p.37.

- Beaudart, C., Rolland, Y., Cruz-Jentoft, A.J., Bauer, J.M., Sieber, C., Cooper, C., Al-Daghri, N., Araujo de Carvalho, I., Bautmans, I., Bernabei, R. and Bruyère, O., 2019. Assessment of muscle function and physical performance in daily clinical practice. *Calcified tissue international*, *105*(1), pp.1-14.
- Bennell, K., Talbot, R., Wajswelner, H., Techovanich, W., Kelly, D. and Hall, A.J., 1998. Intra-rater and inter-rater reliability of a weight-bearing lunge measure of ankle dorsiflexion. *Australian Journal of physiotherapy*, *44*(3), pp.175-180.
- 14. Bierer, B.E., White, S.A., Barnes, J.M. and Gelinas, L., 2020. Ethical challenges in clinical research during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*, 17(4), pp.717-722.
- 15. Boehme, A.K., Esenwa, C. and Elkind, M.S., 2017. Stroke risk factors, genetics, and prevention. *Circulation research*, *120*(3), pp.472-495.
- 16. Bridwell, R., Long, B. and Gottlieb, M. 2020. Neurologic complications of COVID-19. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*.
- 17. Chui, K., Jorge, M., Yen, S-C., and Lusardi, M. (2020). Clinical Assessment of Gait. In: Orthotics and Prosthetics in Rehabilitation. 4th ed. St. Louis, Mo: Saunders Elsevier. 102-143.
- 18. Cooper, A., Alghamdi, G.A., Alghamdi, M.A., Altowaijri, A. and Richardson, S. 2012. The relationship of lower limb muscle strength and knee joint hyperextension during the stance phase of gait in hemiparetic stroke patients. *Physiotherapy research international*, *17*(3), pp.150-156.
- 19. Cox, R.W., Martinez, R.E., Baker, R.T. and Warren, L., 2018. Validity of a smartphone application for measuring ankle plantar flexion. *Journal of sport rehabilitation*, *27*(3).
- 20. Duff, N., Ntsiea, M.V. & Mudzi, W.M. 2014. 'Factors that influence return to work after stroke'. *Occupational Health Southern Africa* 20(3). pp 6–12.
- 21. Fayazi, M., Dehkordi, S.N., Dadgoo, M. and Salehi, M., 2014. The relationship between spasticity and lower extremity strength with functional mobility following chronic stroke. *Int J Phys Med Rehabil*, 2(218), p.2.
- 22. Glinsky, J., 2016. Tardieu Scale. Journal of physiotherapy, 62(4), p.229.

- Gutierrez, J., Goldman, J., Dwork, A.J., Elkind, M.S., Marshall, R.S. and Morgello, S., 2015. Brain arterial remodeling contribution to nonembolic brain infarcts in patients with HIV. *Neurology*, *85*(13), pp.1139-1145.
- 24. Hess, D.C., Eldahshan, W. and Rutkowski, E., 2020. COVID-19-related stroke. *Translational stroke research*, *11*, pp.322-325.
- 25. Higginson, J.S., Zajac, F.E., Neptune, R.R., Kautz, S.A., Burgar, C.G. and Delp, S.L. 2006. Effect of equinus foot placement and intrinsic muscle response on knee extension during stance. *Gait & posture*, 23(1), pp.32-36.
- 26. John Hopkins Medicine. 2021. Available online: <u>https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/conditions-and-</u> <u>diseases/stroke/effects-of-stroke</u>. [Accessed 04/02/2021].
- 27. Julious, S.A., 2005. Sample size of 12 per group rule of thumb for a pilot study. *Pharmaceutical Statistics: The Journal of Applied Statistics in the Pharmaceutical Industry*, *4*(4), pp.287-291.
- 28. Katan, M. and Luft, A., 2018, April. Global burden of stroke. In *Seminars in neurology* (Vol. 38, No. 2, pp. 208-211). Georg Thieme Verlag.
- 29. Kharb, A., Saini, V., Jain, Y.K. and Dhiman, S., 2011. A review of gait cycle and its parameters. *IJCEM International Journal of Computational Engineering* & Management, 13, pp.78-83.
- 30. Kong, K.H., Woon, V.C. and Yang, S.Y., 2004. Prevalence of chronic pain and its impact on health-related quality of life in stroke survivors. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, *85*(1), pp.35-40.
- 31.Konor, M.M., Morton, S., Eckerson, J.M. and Grindstaff, T.L., 2012. Reliability of three measures of ankle dorsiflexion range of motion. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, *7*(3), p.279.
- 32. Li, F., Wu, Y. and Li, X. 2014. Test-retest reliability and inter-rater reliability of the MTS and the Modified Ashworth Scale in hemiplegic patients with stroke. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 50*(1), pp.9-15.
- 33.Li, S., Francisco, G.E. and Zhou, P. 2018. Post-stroke hemiplegic gait: new perspective and insights. *Frontiers in physiology*, *9*, p.1021.
- 34. Loudon, J. K., Bell, S., and Johnston, J. 1998. *The clinical orthopedic assessment guide*. Champaign, IL, Human Kinetics.
- 35. Lucareli, P.R.G. and Greve, J.M.D.A. 2008. Knee joint dysfunctions that influence gait in cerebrovascular injury. *Clinics*, *63*(4), pp.443-450.

- 36. Matizirofa, L. and Ranganai, E., 2020. An analysis of recent stroke cases in South Africa: Trend, seasonality and predictors. *South African Medical Journal*, *110*(2), pp.92-99.
- 37. Mentiplay, B.F., Perraton, L.G., Bower, K.J., Adair, B., Pua, Y.H., Williams, G.P., McGaw, R. and Clark, R.A. 2015. Assessment of lower limb muscle strength and power using hand-held and fixed dynamometry: a reliability and validity study. *PLOS one*, *10*(10).
- 38. Mentiplay, B.F., Tan, D., Williams, G., Adair, B., Pua, Y.H., Bower, K.J. and Clark, R.A., 2018. Assessment of isometric muscle strength and rate of torque development with hand-held dynamometry: test-retest reliability and relationship with gait velocity after stroke. *Journal of biomechanics*, 75, pp.171-175.
- 39. Moore, S., 1993. Observation and analysis of hemiplegic gait: stance phase. *Physiotherapy*, *39*, pp.259-267.
- 40. Morris, M.E., Matyas, T.A., Bach, T.M. and Goldie, P.A., 1992. Electrogoniometric feedback: its effect on genu recurvatum in stroke. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 73(12), pp.1147-1154.
- 41.Ng, S.S. and Hui-Chan, C.W., 2012. Contribution of ankle dorsiflexor strength to walking endurance in people with spastic hemiplegia after stroke. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, *93*(6), pp.1046-1051.
- 42. Ota, S., Ueda, M., Aimoto, K., Suzuki, Y. and Sigward, S.M. 2014. Acute influence of restricted ankle dorsiflexion angle on knee joint mechanics during gait. *The Knee*, *21*(3), pp.669-675.
- 43. Owolabi, M., Olowoyo, P., Popoola, F., Lackland, D., Jenkins, C., Arulogun, O., Akinyemi, R., Akinyemi, O., Akpa, O., Olaniyan, O. and Uvere, E., 2018. The epidemiology of stroke in Africa: a systematic review of existing methods and new approaches. *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension*, *20*(1), pp.47-55.
- 44. Peishun, C., Haiwang, Z., Taotao, L., Hongli, G., Yu, M. and Wanrong, Z., 2021. Changes in gait characteristics of stroke patients with foot drop after the combination treatment of foot drop stimulator and moving treadmill training. *Neural plasticity*, 2021.
- 45. Pirker, W. and Katzenschlager, R., 2017. Gait disorders in adults and the elderly. *Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift*, *129*(3), pp.81-95.

- 46. Puig-Diví, A., Padullés-Riu, J.M., Busquets-Faciaben, A., Padullés-Chando,X., Escalona-Marfil, C. and Marcos-Ruiz, D. 2017. Validity and reliability of the kinovea program in obtaining angular and distance dimensions.
- 47. Reeves, M.J., Bushnell, C.D., Howard, G., Gargano, J.W., Duncan, P.W., Lynch, G., Khatiwoda, A. and Lisabeth, L., 2008. Sex differences in stroke: epidemiology, clinical presentation, medical care, and outcomes. *The Lancet Neurology*, *7*(10), pp.915-926.
- 48. Rhoda, A., Mpofu, R. and De Weerdt, W., 2011. Activity limitations of patients with stroke attending out-patient facilities in the Western Cape, South Africa. South African Journal of Physiotherapy, 67(2), pp.16-22.
- Richardson, S., Cooper, A., Alghamdi, G., Alghamdi, M. and Altowaijri, A., 2012. Assessing knee hyperextension in patients after stroke: comparing clinical observation and Siliconcoach software. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, *19*(3), pp.163-168.
- 50. Salvadori, E., Papi, G., Insalata, G., Rinnoci, V., Donnini, I., Martini, M., Falsini, C., Hakiki, B., Romoli, A., Barbato, C. and Polcaro, P., 2021.
  Comparison between Ischemic and Hemorrhagic Strokes in Functional Outcome at Discharge from an Intensive Rehabilitation Hospital. *Diagnostics*, *11*(1), p.38.
- 51. Saunders, D.H., Greig, C.A. and Mead, G.E., 2014. Physical activity and exercise after stroke: review of multiple meaningful benefits. *Stroke*, *45*(12), pp.3742-3747.
- 52. Schellack, N.S., Smith, N.S., Van Tonder, L.V.T. and Fourie, E.F., 2020. An updated guide to treating stroke. *SA Pharmaceutical Journal*, *87*(4), pp.26-34.
- 53. Scott, D.A., Bond, E.Q., Sisto, S.A. and Nadler, S.F., 2004. The intra-and interrater reliability of hip muscle strength assessments using a handheld versus a portable dynamometer anchoring station. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, *85*(4), pp.598-603.
- 54. Shamaei, K. and Dollar, A.M., 2011, June. On the mechanics of the knee during the stance phase of the gait. In *2011 IEEE international conference on rehabilitation robotics* (pp. 1-7). IEEE.
- 55. Sheffler, L.R. and Chae, J. 2015. Hemiparetic gait. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics*, *26*(4), pp.611-623.
- 56. Silva, L.M. and Stergiou, N. 2020. The basics of gait analysis. *Biomechanics* and Gait Analysis, 164, p.231.

- 57. Singh, P., Joshua, A.M., Ganeshan, S. and Suresh, S. 2011. Intra-rater reliability of the MTS to quantify spasticity in elbow flexors and ankle plantar flexors in adult stroke subjects. *Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology*, *14*(1), p.23.
- Spence, J.D., De Freitas, G.R., Pettigrew, L.C., Ay, H., Liebeskind, D.S., Kase, C.S., Del Brutto, O.H., Hankey, G.J. and Venketasubramanian, N., 2020. Mechanisms of stroke in COVID-19. *Cerebrovascular Diseases*, *49*(4), pp.451-458.
- 59. Springer, S., Vatine, J.J., Wolf, A. and Laufer, Y. 2013. The effects of dualchannel functional electrical stimulation on stance phase sagittal kinematics in patients with hemiparesis. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, *23*(2), pp.476-482.
- 60. Srivastava, A., Taly, A.B., Gupta, A. and Murali, T., 2010. Post-stroke depression: prevalence and relationship with disability in chronic stroke survivors. *Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology*, *13*(2), p.123.
- 61. Statistics South Africa. Provincial Profile 2004: Western Cape. Pretoria, Statistics South Africa, 2006.
- 62. Stroke Center. 2021. Pathophysiology and etiology. Available online: <u>http://www.strokecenter.org/professionals/stroke-management/for-pharmacists-counseling/pathophysiology-and-etiology/#:~:text=Causes%20of%20Stroke&text=The%20primary%20pathologies%20include%20hypertension,are%20ischemic%20and%20hemorrhagic%20of%20Strokes. [Accessed 01/02/2021].</u>
- 63. Stroke Forum. 2021. Pathophysiology of stroke. Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH. Available online: <u>https://www.strokeforum.com/overview/pathophysiology</u>. [Accessed 01/02/2021].
- 64. Sturma, A., Schuhfried, O., Hasenoehrl, T., Ambrozy, C., Salminger, S., Hruby, L.A., Mayer, J.A., Götz-Neumann, K., Crevenna, R., Pinter, M.M. and Aszmann, O.C., 2019. The long-term effects of an implantable drop foot stimulator on gait in hemiparetic patients. *Plos one*, *14*(4), p.e0214991.
- 65. Tan, M.G., Tea, Y.C., Ho, J.H., Goh, H.T. and Ng, H.K., 2015. A motion sensor network for quantitative gait measurement. *World Journal of Engineering*.

- 66. Taylor, A. and Ntusi, N.A., 2019. Guest Editorial: Evolving concepts of stroke and stroke management in South Africa: Quo vadis?. *South African Medical Journal*, *109*(2), pp.69-71.
- 67. Thomas, Q., Crespy, V., Duloquin, G., Ndiaye, M., Sauvant, M., Béjot, Y. and Giroud, M., 2021. Stroke in women: When gender matters. *Revue Neurologique*.
- 68. UNAIDS. 2021. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. Available online: <u>https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/southafrica</u>. [Accessed 03/07/2021].
- 69. Van der Kruk, E. and Reijne, M.M., 2018. Accuracy of human motion capture systems for sport applications; state-of-the-art review. *European journal of sport science*, *18*(6), pp.806-819
- 70. Veerbeek, J.M., Van Wegen, E.E.H., Harmeling–Van der Wel, B.C., Kwakkel, G., and EPOS Investigators. 2011. Is accurate prediction of gait in nonambulatory stroke patients possible within 72 hours poststroke? The EPOS study. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair*, 25(3), pp.268-274.
- 71. Venturini, C., Ituassu, N.T., Teixeira, L.M. and Deus, C.V.O., 2006. Intrarater and interrater reliability of two methods for measuring the active range of motion for ankle dorsiflexion in healthy subjects. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, *10*(4), pp.407-411.
- 72. Verma, R., Arya, K.N., Sharma, P. and Garg, R.K., 2012. Understanding gait control in post-stroke: implications for management. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, *16*(1), pp.14-21.
- 73. Vohralik, S.L., Bowen, A.R., Burns, J., Hiller, C.E. and Nightingale, E.J., 2015. Reliability and validity of a smartphone app to measure joint range. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation*, 94(4), pp.325-330.
- 74. Wang, Z., Yang, Y., Liang, X., Gao, B., Liu, M., Li, W., Chen, Z. and Wang, Z., 2020. COVID-19 associated ischemic stroke and hemorrhagic stroke: incidence, potential pathological mechanism, and management. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *11*, p.1152.
- 75. Watkins, J., 2020. Basic biomechanics of gait. *Neale's Disorders of the Foot and Ankle E-Book*, p.145.
- 76.WHO. 2020. Q&A on coronaviruses (COVID-19). Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/question-</u>

and-answers-hub/q-a-detail/q-a-coronaviruses#:~:text=symptoms. [Accessed on 1/06/2020].

- 77.WHO. 2022. WHO Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard. Available from: <u>https://covid19.who.int/</u>. [Accessed on 13/02/2022].
- 78. Yang, Y., Shi, Y.Z., Zhang, N., Wang, S., Ungvari, G.S., Ng, C.H., Wang, Y.L., Zhao, X.Q., Wang, Y.J., Wang, C.X. and Xiang, Y.T., 2016. The disability rate of 5-year post-stroke and its correlation factors: a national survey in China. *PLoS One*, *11*(11), p.e0165341.
- 79. Yokota, S., Miyamae, T., Kuroiwa, Y. and Nishioka, K. 2021. Novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and cytokine storms for more effective treatments from an inflammatory pathophysiology. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *10*(4), p.801.

# Appendices

- A. Phases of gait
- B. Demographic capture sheet
- C. Participant data capture sheet
- D. Muscle strength testing of the ankle
- E. Muscle tone testing of the ankle
- F. Ankle range of motion testing
- G. Video capturing of gait over ten metres
- H. Information sheet
- I. Signed consent forms
- J. Ethical clearance certificate
- K. Signed permission letters
- L. Infographic coronavirus neurological complications
- M. Budget
- N. Turnitin report
- O. Study protocol
- P. Raw data
- Q. Data tables

# Appendix A – Phases of Gait:

Table 7.1 - The Joint Angles, Muscle Action and Ground Reaction Forces of thePelvis, Hip, Knee, and Ankle During the Stance Phase of Gait: (Loudon et al., 1998;Chui et al., 2020)

Gait Phase	Joint angle and muscle	Pelvis/Hip	Knee	Ankle
	action			
Heel strike	Joint angle	Level pelvis, 30° hip flexion, some degree of external rotation	0-5° knee extension	0° dorsiflexion
	Muscle action	Gluteus medius, hip adductors (eccentric), gluteus maximus (eccentric), hamstrings	Hamstrings (concentric), iliotibial band (eccentric), vastus lateralis, medialis and intermedius	Tibialis anterior, long toe extensors (pretibial muscles) (eccentric)
	Ground reaction force	Flexion moment (GRF vector lies anterior to the hip joint)	Passive extensor moment (GRF vector lies anterior to the knee joint)	Plantarflexion moment (GRF vector lies posterior to the ankle joint)
Loading response	Joint angle	Pelvic drop on contralateral side, 20-30° hip flexion, some internal rotation	15-18° knee flexion	0-10° plantarflexion
	Muscle action	Gluteus medius, tensor fascia latae (eccentric), gluteus maximus, hamstrings, adductor magnus (concentric)	Quadriceps (eccentric), some hamstring activation	Tibialis anterior, long toe extensors (pretibial muscles) (eccentric)
	Ground reaction force	The vertical GRF magnitude exceeds the body weight during this phase, and this is absorbed by the knee flexing and ankle plantarflexing, with the calcaneal tuberosity acting as a pivot point for the tibia and foot t move and allows the foot to pronate towards the groun to absorb the body weight and preserve forward momentum		
Midstance	Joint angle	Level pelvis, hip moves from 30° hip flexion to 10° hip flexion	0-5° knee flexion	8-10° plantarflexion moving into 5° dorsiflexion

	Muscle action	Gluteus medius (concentric), tensor fascia latae (concentric)	Early quadriceps activity (concentric)	Gastrocnemius and soleus (eccentric)
	reaction force	demand on the hip extensors as the GRF vector lies posterior to the hip joint	Passive extensor moment (GRF vector lies anterior to the knee joint)	(GRF vector lies anterior to the ankle joint)
Terminal stance	Joint angle	Anterior pelvic tilt, 20° hip extension with external rotation and abduction	0° Extension	5-10° dorsiflexion
	Muscle action	Rectus abdominis, tensor fascia latae (eccentric),	Hamstrings (eccentric), gastrocnemius	Soleus, gastrocnemius (eccentric)
	Ground reaction force	Passive hip extensor moment (GRF vector lies posterior to the hip joint)	Passive extensor moment (GRF vector lies anterior to the knee joint)	Increased dorsiflexion moment (GRF vector lies further anterior to the ankle joint)
Pre-swing	Joint angle	Lateral pelvic tilt on the ipsilateral side, hip flexion with external rotation	35-40° knee flexion	20° plantarflexion
	Muscle action	Iliopsoas (concentric), hamstrings (eccentric), adductor longus (eccentric)	Rectus femoris (eccentric), popliteus (concentric)	Gastrocnemius and soleus (concentric) followed by tibialis anterior (concentric)
	Ground reaction force	The GRF vector passes through the hip joint	Passive flexor moment (GRF vector lies posterior to the knee joint)	The GRF vector is present at the metatarsophalangeal joints

# Appendix B - Demographic Capture Sheet:

Demographic Capture Sheet				
Participant code				
Consent form signed (Y/N)				
Age				
Sex				
Physical home address				
Employment				
How many months has it been since your stroke?				
Which is your affected side? (left/right)				
What type of walking aid, if any, do you use when walking?				
Which is your dominant side? (which leg would you use to kick a ball with before you had your stroke?)				
Have been infected with covid-19? (Y/N)				
If yes, was it before or after your stroke?				
If after your stroke, has your stroke symptoms worsened since testing positive for covid-19?				
Height (to be measured during assessment)				
Weight (to be measure during assessment)				

## Appendix C – Participant Data Capture Sheet:

Participant code:\_\_\_\_\_ Date:\_\_\_\_\_

#### 1. <u>Muscle Strength Testing</u>

Muscle group	Unaffected side		Affected side			
Ankle Dorsiflexors						
Ankle Plantarflexors						

# 2. Muscle Tone Testing

Muscle group	First measure: movemen through maximum passive ROM (R2)	t Second measure: movement of the muscle group from its shortest to longest position using a rapid velocity stretch (R1)	R2-R1	Quality of muscle reaction X:
Ankle Dorsiflexors				
Ankle Plantarflexors				

#### 3. Ankle Joint Range of Motion:

Joint range	Unaffected side			Affected side		
Ankle Dorsiflexion						
Ankle Plantarflexion						

# Appendix D – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle (Cooper et al., 2012):

Muscle group	Patient position	Limb position	Manually stabilised body part	Dynamometer placement
Ankle dorsiflexors	Supine	Hip and knee extended	Lower leg proximal to ankle	Proximal to metatarsophalangeal joints on dorsal surface of foot
Ankle plantarflexors	Supine	Hip and knee extended	Lower leg proximal to ankle	Proximal to metatarsophalangeal joints on plantar surface of foot

## Appendix E – Muscle Tone Testing:

Two measures of ROM are taken of the same muscle group, where 'R2' is the movement through maximum passive ROM at the slowest possible speed (V1), the second measure, 'R1', is the movement of the muscle from its shortest to longest position using a rapid-velocity stretch (V3) (Banky at al., 2019).

Muscle group	Patient position	First measure: movement through maximum passive ROM (R2) at slowest possible speed (V1)	Second measure: movement of the muscle group from its shortest to longest position (R1) using a rapid velocity stretch (V3)	Body part stabilised
Ankle dorsiflexors	Supine with pillow under distal end of lower leg	Ankle dorsiflexed through full range	Ankle dorsiflexed through full range at a rapid velocity	Proximal to ankle on anterior surface of lower leg
Ankle plantarflexors	Prone with foot off plinth	Ankle plantarflexed through full range	Ankle plantarflexed through full range at a rapid velocity	Proximal to ankle on posterior surface of lower leg

The ankle dorsiflexors and ankle plantarflexors will be test as follows:

Quality of muscle reaction is rated as follows: (Banky at al., 2019)

- 0: No resistance throughout the course of the passive movement
- 1: Slight resistance through the course of passive movement; no clear "catch" at a precise angle
- 2: Clear catch at a precise angle, interrupting the passive movement, followed by release
- 3: Fatigable clonus (10s when maintaining the pressure) appearing at a precise angle
- 4: Un-fatigable clonus (more than 10s when maintaining the pressure) at a precise angle
- 5: Joint is immovable

## Appendix F – Ankle Range of Motion Testing

## Wall lunge test procedure:

The participant will be placed standing in front of a wall, they will use the wall as a support, and then be asked to lunge their knee as far as possible over their foot without the heel lifting off the floor. An inclinometer will be placed on the anterior aspect of the tibia, and at the maximum lunge point the angle of the tibia to the vertical will be recorded to measure of ankle dorsiflexion ROM. The participant was allowed to hold the wall to assist with their balance and a second person could be made available to assist the participants to help with fear or confidence.

## Ankle plantarflexion ROM procedure:

Ankle plantarflexion ROM will be tested by asking each participant to maintain a long sitting position on a plinth. A pillow will be placed under the distal tibia to allow the fibula to be parallel to the surface of the plinth and to allow terminal knee extension. A mark will be made on the patient using a marker pen posterior to the proximal head of the fifth metatarsal. The inclinometer will be calibrated to the surface of the plinth, and the phone is then held in line with the fifth metatarsal, the patient's foot is then asked to plantarflex, and the measurement is taken. If the participant was unable to plantarflex in a gravity-dependent position, the test was modified to a side-lying position.

Appendix G - Video Capturing of Gait over Ten Metres:



Figure 7.1 - Marker placement on participants to mark specific landmarks
Study Information Sheet



# Title: The Association Between Ankle Joint Function and Knee Hyperextension During the Stance Phase of Gait in Hemiparetic Stroke Patients – Information Sheet

# Dear:\_

Good day, my name is Catherine, and I am currently completing my Masters in Physiotherapy at the University of the Witwatersrand. Part of completing my degree includes a study in an area of interest. I would like to invite you to participate in my study, which is concerned with the effects the association between knee hyperextension (bending backwards) and factors affecting the ankle joint when walking in individuals who have suffered a stroke.

# Why am I doing this study?

The study is part of my masters of physiotherapy degree requirements at the University of the Witwatersrand. I want to add to the existing research in this area, that looks at why some individuals who have suffered a stroke will walk with knee hyperextension (bending backwards), and this research will help to show healthcare professionals working in this field which factors of the ankle joint have an association with knee hyperextension, which can help to develop treatment protocols for managing and preventing knee hyperextension in individuals following a stroke.

# What will you have to do if you agree to take part?

I will visit you at the hospital where you are currently being treated. I will organise with you and your treating physiotherapist an appropriate date and time to assess you. Once you have read through the information sheet and asked any questions that you want to ask, you will sign the information sheet and consent form.

# How much of your time will participation involve?

The study involves a once-off assessment, which will not be longer than 30 minutes.

# Will your participation in the project remain confidential?

If you agree to take part, you will be assigned a participant code and your name will not be recorded on the assessment forms and results – instead your code will be used, and your information will not be disclosed to other parties. You can be assured that if you take part in the project your identity will remain anonymous. All data collected in the course of the study will be securely retained for two (2) years, if a scientific publication arises from the study and six (6) years if there is no publication. Thereafter it will be destroyed accordingly.

What are the advantages of taking part?

You may find the study interesting and relevant to you. Once the study is finished it could provide information about the effects of factors affecting the ankle joint which are associated with knee hyperextension, and will add new information to the existing body of research, and may be used in further research into developing and modifying existing treatment approaches.

# Are there any disadvantages of taking part?

Your safety and comfort are very important, and steps have been taken to ensure there is minimal risk of falling or injury if you are assessed for the study. If you are experiencing any pain in your knee, it is important to have it assessed and treated by either your Physiotherapist or by a doctor. The tests that will be completed in this study should not cause any pain to your knee or ankle, however, if you experience any pain during the assessment please inform me, and I will, with your permission, contact your doctor at the facility where you are currently being treated and inform them. If you do not have a doctor who is currently seeing you, please see below contact details of general practitioners close to you:

- Umhlanga Hospital Medical Centre (Umhlanga) – Drs Ferreira, Troskie and Broughton

Contact details: 031 582 5303, admin@umhlangagp.net

- Nurture iLembe (Ballito) – Dr MJ van Jaarsveld Contact details: 032 648 0015

# Do you have to take part in the study?

No, your participation in this project is entirely voluntary. If you do not wish to take part, you do not have to give a reason and you will not be contacted again. Similarly, if you do agree to participate you are free to withdraw at any time during the project if you change your mind.

# What happens now?

You will be assessed at a time which suits you and your treating physiotherapist. I will conduct the assessments and record your data. You will be asked to complete a questionnaire, and then I will test the muscle strength of the muscles in your ankle, the muscle tone of the muscles in your ankle, and test the range of movement of your ankle joint. Lastly, you will be asked to walk a distance of 10 metres with or without an assistive device. You will be recorded with a camera while you are walking. Only your lower body will be recorded, and your face will not be included in order to protect your identity.

# Covid-19 Considerations:

The global pandemic Sars-CoV-2 (also known as the coronavirus/covid-19) has resulted in 16 million infections, over 650 thousand deaths and 10 million recoveries worldwide (WHO, 2020). Primarily, the virus causes respiratory and cardiovascular symptoms, but neurological complications can also occur. New evidence has emerged that the coronavirus can cause neurological complications such as a stroke or worsening the effects of a stroke that a person has previously suffered.

There is an available pamphlet on coronavirus and neurological complications – please ask me if you are interested.

Ethical Clearance:

This study has been approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical) of the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg ("Committee"). A principal function of this Committee is to safeguard the rights and dignity of all human subjects who agree to participate in a research project and the integrity of the research.

If you have any concern over the way the study is being conducted, please contact the Chairperson of this Committee who is Professor Clement Penny, who may be contacted on telephone number 011 717 2301, or by e-mail on <u>Clement.Penny@wits.ac.za</u>. The telephone numbers for the Committee secretariat are 011 717 2700/1234 and the e-mail addresses are <u>Zanele.Ndlovu@wits.ac.za</u> and Rhulani.Mukansi@wits.ac.za Thank you for reading this Study Information Sheet.

[December 2020]

Researcher.

Catherine Cawood, Master of Physiotherapy student from the University of the Witwatersrand

Contact details: 071 955 5517, email: cathcawood@gmail.com

Supervisor.

Miss Kholofelo Mashola, School of Physiotherapy, University of the Witwatersrand

Contact details: 011 717 3702, email: Kholofelo.mashola@wits.ac.za

Faculty of Health Sciences Physiotherapy department



- 6.3.1 Consent form Participation in the study: *The Association Between Ankle Joint Function and Knee Hyperextension During the Stance Phase of Gait in Hemiparetic Stroke Patients.* 
  - 1. I have been given a Participant Information Sheet which explains the nature and processes involved in this study, which is attached hereto;
  - 2. I was given time to read it, or had it read to me, in the language I best understand;
  - 3. I was given time to ask any questions I wanted to and found any answers given to me to be reasonable and satisfactory;
  - 4. I believe I fully understand why the study is being conducted and what the intended outcomes will be;
  - 5. I understand that there will be no immediate benefit to me, should I agree to participate, nor will I receive any payment; conversely, participation will not cost me anything but my time;
  - 6. I understand that, even if I initially consent to take part in the study, I may subsequently withdraw at any time and would not be required to give any reasons; if that happened, any data collected about me for the purposes of the study would immediately be destroyed, unless I give consent for it to be retained
  - 7. I have been given a range of contact details, listed below. If I require further information or become concerned about any aspect of this study, I am free to speak to any of these contacts.

I, \_\_\_\_\_\_ hereby give University of the Witwatersrand Masters Physiotherapy student Catherine Cawood my permission to assess me as part of her study on the association between knee joint hyperextension and factors affecting the ankle joint during the stance phase of gait in hemiparetic stroke patients.

I give Catherine Cawood permission to video me while walking a short distance. My face will not be included and to footage will not be distributed to a third party and will only be utilised for the purposes of this research study only.

I give Catherine Cawood permission to utilise my information for the purposes of this research study only.

I fully understand the nature of this study and what will be required of me.

Researcher:

Catherine Cawood, Master of Physiotherapy student from the University of the Witwatersrand

Contact details: 071 955 5517, email: cathcawood@gmail.com

Supervisor:

Miss Kholofelo Mashola, School of Physiotherapy, University of the Witwatersrand Contact details: 011 717 3702, email: Kholofelo.mashola@wits.ac.za

Ethics Committee Contact Details:

Professor CB Penny, Chairperson of the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical) at the University of Witwatersrand, on telephone no. 011 717 2301, or by e-mail at <u>Clement.Penny@wits.ac.za</u>.

Ms. Z Ndlovu or Mr Rhulani Mkansi, Committee Secretariat, telephone nos.: 011 717 2700 or 1234, or by e-mail at: Zanele.Ndlovu@wits.ac.za or Rhulani.Mkansi@wits.ac.za

Name of Participant:	
Signature/mark:	
Date:	
Place:	

Witnessed by:	
Name of Witness:	
Signature:	
Date:	 _



R14/49 Ms C Cawood

# HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL) CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE NO. M200916

NAME: (Principal Investigator)	Ms C Cawood
DEPARTMENT:	School of Therapeutic Sciences Department of Physiotherapy Medical School University
PROJECT TITLE:	The association between ankle joint function and knee hyperextension during the stance phase of gait in hemiparetic stroke patients
DATE CONSIDERED:	2 October 2020
DECISION:	Approved unconditionally
CONDITIONS:	Approval applies to those study sites listed in Annex 1 to this Clearance Certificate Others may be added on receipt by the HREC (Med) of evidence of management approval
SUPERVISOR:	Ms K Mashola
APPROVED BY:	Dr CB Penny, Chairperson, HREC (Medical)
DATE OF APPROVAL:	23 November 2020

This clearance certificate is valid for 5 years from the date of approval. Extension may be applied for.

#### DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATORS

To be completed in duplicate and ONE COPY returned to the Research Office Secretary on the 3rd Floor, Phillip Tobias Building, Parktown, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg.

live fully understand the conditions under which I arrive are authorized to carry out the abovementioned research and live undertake to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure be contemplated, from the research protocol as approved, live undertake to submit details to the Committee. I agree to submit a yearly progress report. When a funder requires annual recertification, the application date will be one year after the date when the study was initially reviewed. In this case, the study was initially reviewed in September and will therefore reports and re-certification will be due early in the month of September each year. Unreported changes to the application may invalidate the clearance given by the HREC (Medical).

ANOD4

Principal Investigator Signature

23/11/2020

Date

#### Annex 1

Protocol No. M200916

List of approved study sites

1. Rehab Matters Durban 2. Nurture iLembe

Dr CB Penny Chair: HREC (Medieel) University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg

Date: 2020/11/23



# HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL)

2021/09/27

Ms C Cawood School of Therapeutic Sciences Department of Physiotherapy Medical School University

Sent by e-mail to: cathcawood@gmail.com

Dear Ms Cawood

Re: Protocol Ref No: M200916 Protocol Title: The association between ankle joint function and knee hyperextension during the stance phase of gait in hemiparetic stroke patients Principal Investigator: Ms C Cawood

Thank you for your letter of 2021/09/06.

Your progress report has been noted and accepted.

Thank you for keeping us informed.

Yours Sincerely

Sums 

Mr I Burns For the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical)

10 enny

Dr CB Penny, Chairperfon, Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical)



Faculty of Health Sciences Physiotherapy department

05/11/2020

#### To the Clinical Manager

I am a master's student of physiotherapy from the University of the Witwatersrand, looking to conduct research at your hospital.

I would like to request permission to go ahead with this study, which would involve assessing the association between knee joint hyperextension and factors affecting the ankle joint during the stance phase of gait in hemiparetic stroke patients using a cross-sectional observational study design.

Please find attached an information sheet explaining the type of research I would like to conduct at this hospital.

Any feedback would be much appreciated, and if you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

This study has provisional approval from the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical) of the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg ("Committee"), subject to obtaining permission from the relevant authorities at the hospital sites where the study will be conducted. A principal function of this Committee is to safeguard the rights and dignity of all human subjects who agree to participate in a research project and the integrity of the research.

If you have any concern over the way the study is being conducted, please contact the Chairperson of this Committee who is Professor Clement Penny, who may be contacted on telephone number 011 717 2301, or by e-mail on <u>Clement Penny@wits.ac.za</u>. The telephone numbers for the Committee secretariat are 011 717 2700/1234 and the e-mail addresses are <u>Zanele.Ndlovu@wits.ac.za</u> and Rhulani.Mukansi@wits.ac.za

Many thanks,

Researcher:

Catherine Cawood, Master of Physiotherapy student from the University of the Witwatersrand

Contact details: 071 955 5517, email: cathcawood@gmail.com

Supervisor:

Miss Kholofelo Mashola, School of Therapeutic Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy, University of the Witwatersrand Contact details: 011 717 3702, email: Kholofelo.mashola@wits.ac.za I, <u>Carmen Reed</u>, hereby grant University of the Witwatersrand Masters Physiotherapy student Catherine Cawood permission to use *Rehab Matters Durban* as a study site to complete her study titled: *The Association Between Ankle Joint Function and Knee Hyperextension During the Stance Phase of Gait in Hemiparetic Stroke Patients.* 

Batop Signature:

Date: 6/11/2020

Place: Sandton



Faculty of Health Sciences Physiotherapy department

09/11/2020

#### To the Clinical Manager

I am a master's student of physiotherapy from the University of the Witwatersrand, looking to conduct research at your hospital.

I would like to request permission to go ahead with this study, which would involve assessing the association between knee joint hyperextension and factors affecting the ankle joint during the stance phase of gait in hemiparetic stroke patients using a cross-sectional observational study design.

Please find attached an information sheet explaining the type of research I would like to conduct at this hospital.

Any feedback would be much appreciated, and if you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

This study has provisional approval from the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical) of the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg ("Committee"), subject to obtaining permission from the relevant authorities at the hospital sites where the study will be conducted. A principal function of this Committee is to safeguard the rights and dignity of all human subjects who agree to participate in a research project and the integrity of the research.

If you have any concern over the way the study is being conducted, please contact the Chairperson of this Committee who is Professor Clement Penny, who may be contacted on telephone number 011 717 2301, or by e-mail on <u>Clement Penny@wits.ac.za</u>. The telephone numbers for the Committee secretariat are 011 717 2700/1234 and the e-mail addresses are Zanele.Ndlovu@wits.ac.za and Rhulani.Mukansi@wits.ac.za

Many thanks,

Researcher:

Catherine Cawood, Master of Physiotherapy student from the University of the Witwatersrand

Contact details: 071 955 5517, email: cathcawood@gmail.com

Supervisor:

Miss Kholofelo Mashola, School of Therapeutic Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy, University of the Witwatersrand Contact details: 011 717 3702, email: Kholofelo.mashola@wits.ac.za I, Pamela Groenewald , hereby grant University of the Witwatersrand Masters Physiotherapy student Catherine Cawood permission to use Nurture iLembe as a study site to complete her study titled: The Association Between Ankle Joint Function and Knee Hyperextension During the Stance Phase of Gait in Hemiparetic Stroke Patients.

Signature:

Date: 11/11/2020

Place: Nurture iLembe



# Appendix L – Infographic Coronavirus Neurological Complications:

Figure 7.2 - Infographic Coronavirus Symptoms and complications

TRTWORLD

eated shaki with chills

# Appendix M – Budget:

Description of item	Cost of	Number/amount	Number/	Total
	item (R)	required	amount purchased	cost (R)
Telephone costs			purchased	
	<b>D</b> 405.00		1	<b>D</b> 070.00
MIN VOICE bundle	R135.00	10 minutes per		R270.00
	minutos	robabilitation unit		
	talk time)	therapists to enquire		
		about patients who		
		fit inclusion criteria		
		(20x10 mins= 200		
		mins)		
		Total= 200 mins		
Printing and Stationery				
Printing - (Student pricing	43 cents	Outcome measure		R154.80
https://www.wits.ac.za/mywi	per sheet	assessment forms,		+
ts/printing/)	(A4 single	information sheet,		R11.96
- Demographic capture	sided,	consent form printed		+
Sneet (1 page),	black and	In black and white -		R119.60
sheet (1 page)	white)	Sou pages		= R286.36
information sheet (3	R2 99 per	Permission letter		11200.00
pages), consent form (1	sheet (A4	printed in colour		
page), letters to	single	- 1 page x 4 copies		
hospitals/units (1 page),	sided,			
infographic coronavirus	colour)	Infographic printed		
(1 page)		in colour – 1 page x		
- 60 participants	D00.00	40		D00.00
Builder's	R98.00	1		R98.00
Colour stickers 19mm –	R17.80	1		R17.80
Makro	(250 per			
	box)			
Marker pen - Makro	R10.80	1		R10.80
Equipment	50.00		1	50.00
Handheld dynamometer	R0.00	1		R0.00
	(VVIIS Physiothor			
	any			
	Departme			
	nt may be			
	able to			
	provide)			
	R22 550.3			
	5 BioFET			
	(Hilech			
	Inerapy)			
	(3.]			
	Medical)			

# Table 7.2 - Detailed budget of the proposed study

	R49 666,20 microFET 2 digital dynamom eter (Mobility Solutions)			<b>D</b> 0.00
<ul> <li>Instruments owned by</li> <li>research: <ul> <li>Inclinometer</li> <li>Goniometer</li> <li>Scale (bathroom scale)</li> <li>Video recorder –</li> <li>researcher's phone</li> <li>Kinovea Software</li> <li>(researcher's computer)</li> <li>– free software</li> </ul> </li> <li>Petrol and Transport</li> </ul>	KU.UU	1		K0.00
			Γ	
Petrol and transport costs	SARS travel rate = R3.98 per km	Travel to Life Entabeni Hospital: 17km, travel to Nurture iLembe: 25km, travel to Highway Subacute and Rehabilitation Hospital: 47km x 1 trip to each facility per week x 6 months (24 weeks)		89km x 24 weeks x R3.98 = R8501.2 8
Personal protective equipm	ent	<u> </u>	•	•
Box of gloves	R100.95 ARO Latex Gloves (1 x 100's)	1		R100.95
Box of surgical masks	R500.00 3-Ply Surgical Mask 50 pcs	1		R500.00
Plastic aprons	R89.95 ARO Disposabl e Aprons (100 per packet)	1		R89.95
Alcohol sanitiser	R99.95 Dismed D- germ Alcohol & Chlorhexid ine Hand Rub 500ml	1		R99.95

Paper towel to wipe down	R17.45	1		R17.45
equipment and surfaces	ARO			
	Roller			
	Towels			
	White (1 x			
	2's)			
Face shield	R0.00	1		R0.00
	(owned by			
	researcher			
	)			
Grand Total:	Grand Total: R9 992.54			992.54

# Appendix N – Turnitin Report:

Caw	ood C 80	8850 Research R	eport		
ORIGINA	ALITY REPORT				
1 simila	6%	10% INTERNET SOURCES	8% PUBLICATIONS	3% STUDENT	PAPERS
PRIMAR	Y SOURCES				
1	www.no	bi.nlm.nih.gov			1%
2	hdl.han	dle.net			1%
3	Submitt Student Pape	ed to University	of Witwatersr	and	1%
4	Anne M Karl Sch analysis Australi Publication	oseley, Amanda nurr, Sally Moore of hemip <b>l</b> egic g an Journal of Ph	Wales, Rob H e. "Observation gait: stance pha hysiotherapy, 1	erbert, n and ase", 993	<1%
5	open.ud	ct.ac.za			<1%
6	Brunne pelvis a Posture Publication	r, R "Effects of nd lower limb ki , 200807	plantarflexion inematics", Gai	on it &	<1%
7	Marieke Feen, Bi	e Geerars, Nymp ionka M.A Huiss	oha Minnaar-va tede. "Treatmo	an der ent of	<1%

	knee hyperextension in post-stroke gait. A systematic review", Gait & Posture, 2022 Publication	
8	"Handbook of Human Motion", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2018 Publication	<1 %
9	edoc.unibas.ch Internet Source	<1%
10	link.springer.com	<1%
11	www.mdpi.com Internet Source	<1%
12	Submitted to University of Wales Institute, Cardiff Student Paper	<1%
13	wiredspace.wits.ac.za	<1%
14	theses.lib.polyu.edu.hk	<1%
15	ugspace.ug.edu.gh Internet Source	<1%
16	Allison Cooper, Ghalib Abdullah Alghamdi, Mohammed Abdulrahman Alghamdi, Abdulrahman Altowaijri, Susan Richardson. "The Relationship of Lower Limb Muscle Strength and Knee Joint Hyperextension	<1%

# during the Stance Phase of Gait in Hemiparetic Stroke Patients", Physiotherapy Research International, 2012 Publication

17	"Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2018 Publication	<1%
18	peerj.com Internet Source	<1%
19	Submitted to University of Sydney Student Paper	<1%
20	engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu	<1%
21	"Converging Clinical and Engineering Research on Neurorehabilitation III", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2019 Publication	<1%
22	on inelibrary.wiley.com	<1%
23	Jonaid Ahmad Malik, Sakeel Ahmed, Mrunal Shinde, Mohammed Hajjaj Saeid Al-Marmash et al. "The impact of COVID-19 on the comorbidities: A review of recent updates for combating it", Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 2022 Publication	<1%

24	www.tandfonline.com	<1%
25	doaj.org Internet Source	<1%
26	shura.shu.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%
27	etheses.bham.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%
28	new.esp.org Internet Source	<1%
29	www.magonlinelibrary.com	<1%
30	A. Gefen. "Simulations of foot stability during gait characteristic of ankle dorsiflexor weakness in the elderly", IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering, 2001 Publication	<1%
31	Amelia K. Boehme, Charles Esenwa, Mitchell S.V. Elkind. "Stroke Risk Factors, Genetics, and Prevention", Circulation Research, 2017 Publication	<1%
32	J. Romkes, R. Brunner. "An electromyographic analysis of obligatory (hemiplegic cerebral palsy) and voluntary (normal) unilateral toe- walking", Gait & Posture, 2007	<1%

33	Jeremy Bauer, K. Patrick Do, Jing Feng, Rosemary Pierce, Michael Aiona. "Knee Recurvatum in Children With Spastic Diplegic Cerebral Palsy", Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics, 2019 Publication	<1%
34	Sean G. Sadler, Sean M. Lanting, Angela T. Searle, Martin J. Spink, Vivienne H. Chuter. "Does a weight bearing equinus affect plantar pressure differently in older people with and without diabetes? A case control study", Clinical Biomechanics, 2021 Publication	<1%
35	openrepository.aut.ac.nz	<1%
36	eprints.uwe.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%
37	journals.plos.org	<1%
38	mts.intechopen.com Internet Source	<1%
39	ourspace.uregina.ca	<1%
40	usir.salford.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%

Publication

33	Jeremy Bauer, K. Patrick Do, Jing Feng, Rosemary Pierce, Michael Aiona. "Knee Recurvatum in Children With Spastic Diplegic Cerebral Palsy", Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics, 2019 Publication	<1%
34	Sean G. Sadler, Sean M. Lanting, Angela T. Searle, Martin J. Spink, Vivienne H. Chuter. "Does a weight bearing equinus affect plantar pressure differently in older people with and without diabetes? A case control study", Clinical Biomechanics, 2021 Publication	<1%
35	openrepository.aut.ac.nz Internet Source	<1%
36	eprints.uwe.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%
37	journals.plos.org	<1%
38	mts.intechopen.com	<1%
39	ourspace.uregina.ca	<1%
40	usir.salford.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%

41	www.samj.org.za	<1%
42	Michael Attias, Odile Chevalley, Alice Bonnefoy-Mazure, Geraldo De Coulon, Laurence Cheze, Stéphane Armand. "Effects of contracture on gait kinematics: A systematic review", Clinical Biomechanics, 2016 Publication	<1%
43	Reeves, M.J "Sex differences in stroke: epidemiology, clinical presentation, medical care, and outcomes", Lancet Neurology, 200810 Publication	<1%
44	ctc-africa.org	<1%
45	etheses.whiterose.ac.uk	<1%
46	Sacco, Isabel C.N., Andreja P. Picon, Diego Oliveira Macedo, Marcos Kenji Butugan, Ricky Watari, and Cristina D. Sartor. "Alterations in the Lower Limb Joint Moments Precede the Peripheral Neuropathy Diagnosis in Diabetes Patients", Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics, 2015. Publication	<1%

Submitted to University of Dundee

Church	d.	~	-	D	1-	-	-
200	u	e	114	r	d	D	er.

47	Student Paper	<1%
48	Submitted to University of Southampton Student Paper	<1%
<mark>49</mark>	dspace.lib.cranfield.ac.uk	<1%
50	norma.ncirl.ie Internet Source	<1%
51	Dorice A. Hankemeier, Ashley B. Thrasher. "Relationship Between the Weight-Bearing Lunge and Nonweight-Bearing Dorsiflexion Range of Motion Measures", Athletic Training & Sports Health Care, 2014 Publication	<1%
52	Submitted to Oxford & Cherwell Valley College Student Paper	<1%
53	Submitted to University of Kent at Canterbury Student Paper	<1%
54	"ESMAC Abstracts 2004", Gait & Posture, 200409 Publication	<1%
55	Submitted to CSU, San Jose State University Student Paper	<1%
56	Carlos Romero Morales, César Calvo Lobo, David Rodríguez Sanz, Irene Sanz Corbalán,	<1%

Beatriz Beatriz Ruiz Ruiz, Daniel López López. "The concurrent validity and reliability of the Leg Motion system for measuring ankle dorsiflexion range of motion in older adults", PeerJ, 2017 Publication	
57 Ernest Herbert, Dominique Fournier, Waleed Mohammed Al-Shaqha, Mohamed Chahine. "The myocardial and neuronal infectivity of SARS-CoV-2 and detrimental outcomes", Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology, 2021 Publication	<1%
58 Scholar.ufs.ac.za	<1%
59 Submitted to Sefako Makgatho Health Science University Student Paper	<1%
60 Submitted to University of Strathclyde Student Paper	<1%
61 pdfs.semanticscholar.org	<1%
62 www.foodconsumer.org	<1%
63 F. R. Noyes. "Knee Hyperextension Galt Abnormalities in Unstable Knees: Recognition and Preoperative Gait Retraining", The	<1%

# American Journal of Sports Medicine,

# 01/01/1996

Publication

64	eprints.lancs.ac.uk	<1%
65	146.230.128.141 Internet Source	<1%
66	L Christine Turtzo. "Sex-specific responses to stroke", Future Neurology, 01/2010	<1%
67	citeseerx.ist.psu.edu Internet Source	<1%
68	epdf.pub Internet Source	<1%
69	era.library.ualberta.ca	<1%
70	ir.canterbury.ac.nz	<1%
71	omronhealthcare.com	<1%
72	i-base.info Internet Source	<1%
73	kc pure.kc .ac.uk	<1%

www.arquivosdeneuropsiquiatria.org

74	Internet Source	<1%
		1 /0
75	www.nature.com	<1%
76	A G Shaper. "Cardiovascular disease in the tropics. V. Coronary heart disease.", BMJ, 1972	<1%
77	Micaele Aparecida Furlan de Oliveira, Osmair Gomes de Macedo, Lilian Carolina Rodrigues da Silva, Thaís Santos Oliveira et al. "Structural and physical-functional deficits in lower limbs with fractures and treated surgically", Fisioterapia em Movimento, 2018 Publication	<1%
78	Research-Repository.griffith.edu.au	<1%
79	Robert LeMoyne, Timothy Mastroianni, Anthony Hessel, Kiisa Nishikawa. "Ankle Rehabilitation System with Feedback from a Smartphone Wireless Gyroscope Platform and Machine Learning Classification", 2015 IEEE 14th International Conference on Machine Learning and Applications (ICMLA), 2015 Publication	<1%
80	Shahrzad Nazari, Amirhossein Azari Jafari, Seyyedmohammadsadeq Mirmoeeni, Saeid	<1%

	Sadeghian et al. "Central nervous system manifestations in COVID - 19 patients: A systematic review and meta - analysis", Brain and Behavior, 2021 Publication	
81	Vialleron Thomas, Delafontaine Arnaud, Millerioux Isis, Memari Sahel, Fourcade Paul, Yiou Eric. "Acute effects of short-term stretching of the triceps surae on ankle mobility and gait initiation in patients with Parkinson's disease", Clinical Biomechanics, 2021 Publication	<1%
82	bura.brunel.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%
83	coek.info Internet Source	<1%
84	dspace.plymouth.ac.uk	<1%
85	e-space.mmu.ac.uk	<1%
86	ebrsr.com Internet Source	<1%
87	faculty.mu.edu.sa Internet Source	<1%
	- · · · ·	

88 ir.library.ui.edu.ng

			-				
- m + m		~	C.	- I - I	1.00		- N
E 1 U	er (1)	е.	-24	0 U	af (	. 1	
		-	-			-	-

	internet source	<1%
89	msnj.journals.ekb.eg	<1%
90	ogma.newcastle.edu.au Internet Source	<1%
91	orca.cf.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%
92	othes.univie.ac.at Internet Source	<1%
93	qspace.library.queensu.ca	<1%
94	researchspace.ukzn.ac.za	<1%
95	scholar.sun.ac.za Internet Source	<1%
96	scholar.uwindsor.ca Internet Source	<1%
97	ses.library.usyd.edu.au Internet Source	<1%
98	textarchive.ru Internet Source	<1%
99	www.cdc.gov Internet Source	<1%

100	www.degruyter.com Internet Source	<1%
101	www.jhsph.edu Internet Source	<1%
102	www.ksau-hs.edu.sa Internet Source	<1%
103	Aparna Nutakki, Mashina Chomba, Lorraine Chishimba, Stanley Zimba, Rebecca F. Gottesman, Mona N. Bahouth, Deanna Saylor. "Risk factors and outcomes of hospitalized stroke patients in Lusaka, Zambia", Journal of the Neurological Sciences, 2021 Publication	<1%
104	Megan Banky, Ross A. Clark, Benjamin F. Mentiplay, John H. Olver, Michelle B. Kahn, Gavin Williams. "Toward Accurate Clinical Spasticity Assessment: Validation of Movement Speed and Joint Angle Assessments Using Smartphones and Camera Tracking", Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 2019 Publication	<1%
105	Shamay SM Ng, Shirley SM Fong, Stefanie SL Lam, Charles WK Lai, Lina PY Chow, Arthur de Sá Ferreira. "Acupressure and task-related training after stroke: A case study",	<1%

# nternational Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation, 2014

Publication



# theses.gla.ac.uk nternet Source

<1<sub>%</sub> 107 Žiga Kozinc, Darjan Smajla, Nebojša Trajković, Nejc Šarabon. "Reliability of EasyForce Dynamometer for Assessment of Maximal Knee and Hip Strength, and Comparison to Rigid sometric Dynamometers with External Fixation", Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science, 2021 **Publication** 

Exclude quotes On Exclude bibliography On Exclude matches Off Appendix O – Study Protocol:



# **Research Report Protocol Submission**

# The Association Between Ankle Joint Function and Knee Hyperextension During the Stance Phase of Gait in Hemiparetic Stroke Patients

Student: Catherine Cawood 808850 Supervisor: Miss Kholofelo Mashola, School of Physiotherapy, University of the Witwatersrand

# **Table of Contents**

1.1 Introduction       106         1.2 Problem Statement       107         1.3 Significance of the Study       108         1.5.1 Objectives of the Study       109         2. Methodology       109         2.1 Type of Study       109         2.2 Subjects       109         2.2.1 Source of Subjects       109         2.2.2 Sample Selection       109         2.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures       110         2.4 Study Procedure       112         2.4.1 Pilot Study       112         2.4.2 Main Study       112         2.4.2 Main Study       112         2.5 Novel Considerations       113         2.6 Ethical Considerations       113         2.6 Ethical Considerations       115         4. Time Frame of the Project       115         5. Budget       115         6. References       115         6. References       115         7.6 Appendick A - Demographic Capture Sheet:       67         7.6 Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:       68         7.7 Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing       71	111. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.
1.2 Problem Statement       107         1.3 Significance of the Study       108         1.5.1 Objectives of the Study       109         2. Methodology       109         2.1 Type of Study       109         2.2 Subjects       109         2.2.1 Source of Subjects       109         2.2.2 Sample Selection       109         2.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures       110         2.4 Study Procedure       112         2.4.1 Pilot Study       112         2.4.2 Main Study       112         2.4.3 Min Study       112         2.5 Novel Considerations       113         2.6 Ethical Considerations       113         2.6 Ethical Considerations       115         4. Time Frame of the Project       115         5. Budget       115         6. References       115         6. References       115         Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:       67         Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:       68         Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:       69         Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:       69         Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing       71	1.1 Introduction
1.3 Significance of the Study1081.5.1 Objectives of the Study1092. Methodology1092.1 Type of Study1092.2 Subjects1092.2.1 Source of Subjects1092.2.2 Sample Selection1092.2.3 Sample Size Calculation1102.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures1102.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1133.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References115Appendices64Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:67Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	1.2 Problem Statement
1.5.1 Objectives of the Study.1092. Methodology.1092.1 Type of Study.1092.2 Subjects1092.2.1 Source of Subjects1092.2.2 Sample Selection1092.2.3 Sample Size Calculation1102.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures1102.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study.1122.4.2 Main Study.1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References115Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:68Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	1.3 Significance of the Study108
2. Methodology1092.1 Type of Study1092.2 Subjects1092.2.1 Source of Subjects1092.2.2 Sample Selection1092.2.3 Sample Size Calculation1102.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures1102.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References115Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:68Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	1.5.1 Objectives of the Study 109
2.1 Type of Study1092.2 Subjects1092.2.1 Source of Subjects1092.2.2 Sample Selection1092.2.3 Sample Size Calculation1102.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures1102.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References115Appendices64Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:68Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2. Methodology
2.2 Subjects1092.2.1 Source of Subjects1092.2.2 Sample Selection1092.2.3 Sample Size Calculation1102.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures1102.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References115Appendices64Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:68Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2.1 Type of Study109
2.2.1 Source of Subjects1092.2.2 Sample Selection1092.2.3 Sample Size Calculation1102.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures1102.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References115Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:64Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2.2 Subjects
2.2.2 Sample Selection1092.2.3 Sample Size Calculation1102.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures1102.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References1157. Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:67Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2.2.1 Source of Subjects 109
2.2.5 Sample Size Calculation1102.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures1102.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References1157. Appendices64Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:67Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix D - Muscle Tone Testing:70Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2.2.2 Sample Selection
2.9 Instrumentation and outcome inclusives1122.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References1157. Appendices64Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:67Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix D - Muscle Tone Testing:70Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2.2.5 Sample Size Calculation
2.4 Study Procedure1122.4.1 Pilot Study1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References1157. Appendices64Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:68Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix D - Muscle Tone Testing:70Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	
2.4.1 Pilot Study.1122.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References1157. Appendices64Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:67Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix D - Muscle Tone Testing:70Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2.4 Study Procedure
2.4.2 Main Study1122.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References1157. Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:67Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix D – Muscle Tone Testing:70Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2.4.1 Pilot Study
2.5 Novel Considerations1132.6 Ethical Considerations1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References115Appendices64Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:67Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix D – Muscle Tone Testing:70Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2.4.2 Main Study112
2.6 Ethical Considerations.1143. Data Analysis1154. Time Frame of the Project1155. Budget1156. References115Appendices64Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:67Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix D – Muscle Tone Testing:70Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	2.5 Novel Considerations
4. Time Frame of the Project       115         5. Budget       115         6. References       115         Appendices       64         Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:       67         Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:       68         Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:       69         Appendix D – Muscle Tone Testing:       70         Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing       71	2.6 Ethical Considerations
5. Budget       115         6. References       115         Appendices       64         Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:       67         Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:       68         Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:       69         Appendix D – Muscle Tone Testing:       70         Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing       71	4. Time Frame of the Project
5. Budget       115         6. References       115         Appendices       64         Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:       67         Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:       68         Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:       69         Appendix D – Muscle Tone Testing:       70         Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing       71	5 Dudget
Appendices64Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:67Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:69Appendix D - Muscle Tone Testing:70Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	6. References
Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:.67Appendix B - Participant Data Capture Sheet:.68Appendix C - Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:.69Appendix D - Muscle Tone Testing:.70Appendix E - Ankle Range of Motion Testing.71	Appendices
Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:.68Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:.69Appendix D – Muscle Tone Testing:.70Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing.71	Appendix A - Demographic Capture Sheet:67
Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:	Appendix B – Participant Data Capture Sheet:
Appendix D – Muscle Tone Testing:	Appendix C – Muscle Strength Testing of the Ankle:
Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing71	Appendix D – Muscle Tone Testing:70
	Appendix E – Ankle Range of Motion Testing71
Appendix F - Video Capturing of Gait over Ten Metres:72	Appendix F - Video Capturing of Gait over Ten Metres:
Appendix G – Information Sheet:	Appendix G – Information Sheet:73
Appendix H – Consent Form:76	Appendix H – Consent Form:76
Appendix I – Permission Letter:	Appendix I – Permission Letter:
Appendix J – Infographic Coronavirus Neurological Complications:	Appendix J – Infographic Coronavirus Neurological Complications:
Appendix K - Data Analysis: Error! Bookmark not defined.2	Appendix K - Data Analysis: Error! Bookmark not defined.2
Appendix L – Budget:	
Appendix M – Turnitin Report:	Appendix L – Budget:

# 1. Background and Need

#### **1.1 Introduction**

Restoration of walking is one of the main physiotherapy goals for many patients following a stroke, in order to be more functional in daily life and allow for greater community participation (Cooper et al., 2012). Sixty to 80% of stroke survivors can walk independently by six months following a stroke (Veerbeek et al., 2011). However, stroke survivors are often left with functional limitations such as changes in joint range of motion (ROM), muscle tone, motor control, muscle strength, and sensation (Lucareli and Greve, 2008). These functional limitations result in reduced standing balance, increased energy expenditure, joint deformity, pain, and muscle wasting (Cooper et al., 2012), which all then impact on the individual's gait.

The stance phase of gait can be described as the moment when the foot is in contact with a surface and includes the 'weight acceptance' phase and the 'single limb support' phase (Richardson et al., 2012). These two phases can be further classified into 'initial contact' and 'loading response' in the weight acceptance phase, and 'midstance', 'terminal stance' and 'preswing' in the single limb support phase. According to Li et al. (2018), individuals with stroke usually present with a shorter stance phase and increased swing phase on the hemiparetic side. Throughout the single limb support phase, the knee remains extended, although there is a small amount of knee flexion that occurs early in the stance phase (Balaban and Tok, 2014). In hemiparetic gait, knee hyperextension can occur during the heel strike/initial contact phase, loading response phase, and midstance phase (Richardson et al., 2012).

Knee hyperextension can be described as extension of the hemiparetic knee past 'anatomical zero' (Cooper et al., 2012). According to Cooper et al. (2012), 40 to 60% of the stroke population present with hyperextension of the knee while walking, although there is no clear consensus as to the cause of hyperextension of the knee. There is evidence that the ankle joint plays a role in knee hyperextension, with a number of factors causing altered ankle joint functioning that have an impact on the knee joint in stroke patients during gait (An and Won, 2016). Increased muscle tone in the ankle plantarflexor muscles causes early contraction of the ankle plantarflexors at 'initial contact', pulling the tibia posteriorly while the femur travels forward, causing knee hyperextension (Sheffler and Chae, 2015). Spasticity in the ankle plantarflexors (and even shortening of the Achilles tendon) may result in changes in ankle ROM, causing knee hyperextension at initial contact due to a lack of an antagonist muscle force (Higginson et al., 2006). Reduced ankle ROM during stance phase of gait leads to the reduced ability to shift one's centre of mass, leading to instability and balance deficits during gait as well as soft tissue changes of the connective tissue and muscles of the ankle leading to

biomechanical changes in gait (An and Won, 2016). Maximal ankle dorsiflexion of ten degrees is achieved at midstance phase of gait, and terminal stance phase (Ota et al., 2014). However, reduced dorsiflexion ROM hinders the forward translation of the tibia over the foot, which leads to compensation at the knee and altered gait outcomes such as decreased step length, stride length, cadence, and walking speed (Ota et al., 2014). Less than eight degrees of ankle dorsiflexion during stance phase of gait leads to changes in knee biomechanics and gait parameters (Ota et al., 2014).

Muscle weakness of the quadricep, hamstring, and both ankle dorsiflexor and plantarflexor muscles of the hemiparetic lower limb has been shown to have an impact on hyperextension of the during stance phase of gait (Sheffler and Chae, 2015; An and Won, 2016; Cooper et al., 2012). Weakness of the quadricep muscles leads to reduced weight bearing ability (Cooper et al., 2012) while weakness of the hamstring muscle has an influence on knee hyperextension, especially if there is spasticity in the quadricep muscles are thought to work in tandem, during the stance phase of walking, to prevent rapid hyperextension of the knee, but the exact action of the gastrocnemius and hamstring muscles in stance phase of gait is not well demonstrated in literature (Springer et al., 2013; and Sheffler and Chae, 2015). Cooper et al (2012) suggest that tibialis anterior muscle weakness may also contribute to knee hyperextension during stance phase of gait, as the ankle dorsiflexor muscles are active in early stance phase of gait to control foot descent to the floor and control the loading response.

During stance phase of gait, knee hyperextension can allow individuals with stroke a certain amount of stability and provide a mechanism to control their affected lower limb, however, there is a potential for injury to the posterior capsular and ligamentous structures which may lead to pain, ligament laxity, and bony deformity (Richardson et al., 2012; Cooper et al., 2012).

# **1.2 Problem Statement**

During the stance phase of gait, knee hyperextension is common, both in acute and chronic patients with stroke. There is a current lack of consensus as to the cause of hyperextension of the knee during stance phase of gait in stroke patients (Cooper et al., 2012), despite the high rate of ambulating stroke patients presenting with knee hyperextension during gait (40 to 60%) (Cooper et al., 2012). Literature has reported a variety of possible factors that may cause knee hyperextension as mentioned above, however, it is not clear which of these factors affecting ankle joint function has the greatest impact on knee hyperextension. The goal for physiotherapy is to restore an efficient gait, where the patient is able to ambulate independently and safely. To

do this, the physiotherapist must establish the causes of the patient's altered gait pattern in order to deliver the most effective and appropriate therapy. Hyperextension of the knee has the potential to negatively impact gait therapy, with a peak angle of 22 degrees of knee hyperextension gait (particularly in the stance phase of gait). This repeated abnormal hyperextension of the knee may cause injury to the posterior structures of the knee causing pain, ligamentous damage, and bony changes. This study therefore aims to investigate, during stance phase of gait, the association between ankle joint function and hyperextension of the knee in hemiparetic stroke patients.

#### **1.3 Significance of the Study**

Results from this study will add to the existing body of research, and may be used in further research into developing and modifying existing treatment approaches, and a treatment protocol for knee hyperextension in relation to ankle joint function in stroke patients can be designed which will effectively reduce knee hyperextension. Prevention and management of knee hyperextension in the stroke population will help prevent and minimise the development of knee, which will reduce the need for expensive orthoses, aids and surgery. Better understanding of the association of the factors affecting the ankle joint and hyperextension of the knee during gait in patients with stroke will lead to an improvement in targeted therapy techniques, and thus improve stroke survivors' outcomes in terms of walking speed, stride length, step length, and amount of support through hands needed. There is currently a dearth of literature on the association between ankle joint function and hyperextension of the knee in stroke patients during stance phase of gait, particularly in the South African population. This study will therefore provide research in a local population, as well as adding to existing research.

#### **1.4 Research Question**

What is the association between ankle joint function and hyperextension of the knee during the stance phase of gait in stroke patients with a hemiparetic gait pattern?

# 1.5 Aim of the Study

This study's aim is to determine the association between ankle joint function and hyperextension of the knee in the stance phase of gait in hemiparetic stroke patients.
#### 1.5.1 Objectives of the Study

- To determine tibialis anterior and gastrocnemius muscle strength for ankle dorsiflexion and plantarflexion, respectively.
- To determine the muscle tone of the muscles of the ankle joint (tibialis anterior for ankle dorsiflexion, and gastrocnemius for ankle plantarflexion).
- To determine the joint range of motion of ankle dorsiflexion and plantarflexion.
- To analyse knee joint angles during the first three stance phases of gait (initial contact/heel strike, loading response, and midstance).
- To determine the association between the ankle joint components assessed and hyperextension of the knee in the stance phase of gait.

## 2. Methodology

## 2.1 Type of Study

A cross-sectional observational study.

## 2.2 Subjects

## 2.2.1 Source of Subjects

Participants of this study will be sourced from four rehabilitation units in Durban, South Africa. *Rehab Matters Durban* is an outpatient therapy unit providing physiotherapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy neurorehabilitation services in the Umhlanga area. *Nurture iLembe* is a facility in the Ballito area, which provides acute and sub-acute inpatient and outpatient rehabilitation services. *Life Entabeni Hospital* is in Berea, Durban, and has a 312-bed capacity, with an additional 50 beds in the rehabilitation unit. *Medicross Highway Sub-acute and Rehabilitation Hospital*, in Hillcrest, is a 30-bed sub-acute facility which offers rehabilitation services for a wide range of conditions, including neurological conditions. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, priority source of patients will be *Rehab Matters Durban* (as the researcher is employed at this outpatient practice) to limit travelling between multiple hospitals. Furthermore, only one facility will be visited on one day, in order to further minimise the risk of transmission to different facilities.

## 2.2.2 Sample Selection

Consecutive sampling will be used in this study where all patients at the abovementioned facilities, who fit the inclusion criteria, will be approached to take part in the study. Participants will be assessed at the facility where they are currently receiving inpatient or outpatient therapy. The following inclusion and exclusion criteria will be used to determine suitable participants for the study:

#### Inclusion Criteria

- Unilateral hemiplegia from a single clinical stroke,
- Able to walk independently (minimum of ten metres) either with or without an assistive device,
- No pathologies of the lower limb joints such as joint arthroplasty, fractures, osteoarthritis, or rheumatoid arthritis,
- Consenting adults (18 years and above)

## Exclusion Criteria

• Unable to follow verbal instructions and demonstration

## 2.2.3 Sample Size Calculation

Von Hoorhis & Morgan (2007) suggests that for regression equations with at least six predictors, a sample of a minimum of 10 participants per variable is appropriate. This study will have six predictors as the three factors of the ankle being measured, ankle muscle strength, muscle tone and ankle ROM, are subdivided into ankle dorsiflexion and ankle plantarflexion components. Therefore, the sample size is collected to be 6 x10 participants per predictor variable = 60 participants.

## 2.3 Instrumentation and Outcome Measures

A demographic capture sheet (Appendix A) will be used to document data on the participant's age, gender, months since stroke, affected side, type of assistive device used when walking, dominant side, height, weight and covid-19 related questions (such as previous exposure and/or associated symptoms). The participant data capture sheet (Appendix B) will be used to document the information the below.

## 2.3.1 Muscle strength of the muscles of the ankle:

Ankle dorsiflexion and ankle plantarflexion muscle strength will be recorded using a handheld dynamometer (Appendix C). The test-retest and inter-rater reliability for handheld dynamometer testing were high in normal adult and in frail older population (Scott et al., 2004; Mentiplay et al., 2015).

## 2.3.2 Muscle tone of the muscles of the ankle:

Muscle tone will be assessed using the Modified Tardieu Scale (MTS) (Appendix D). The testretest reliability and inter-rater reliability in patients with hemiparetic stroke was assessed by Li et al. (2014). Li et al. (2014) compared the Modified Ashworth Scale (MAS) and the MTS on the ankle plantarflexor and elbow flexor muscles. For the ankle plantarflexors, the MTS showed an inter-rater reliability of 0.82 while the MAS showed an inter-rater reliability of 0.48. The intra-rater reliability of the MTS for the ankle plantarflexors was 0.79 compared to the MAS, which was 0.48 (Li et al., 2014). The MTS showed an inter-rater intraclass correlation of 0.80 for R1 values, 0.88 for R2 values, and 0.62 for R1-R2 values (Li et al., 2014). The intra-rater intraclass correlation of 0.77 for R1 values, 0.75 for R2 values, and 0.66 for R1-R2 values (Li et al., 2014). Furthermore, Singh et al. (2011) found that the intra-rater reliability of the MTS was very good when measuring values for R1, R2, and R2-R1 of the ankle plantarflexors. The final MTS score (intraclass correlation coefficient > 0.85, P<0.0001) was very good for ankle plantarflexor muscle tone assessment over two different sessions. The MTS was therefore selected as the preferred reliable clinical tool to measure spasticity in ankle plantarflexors in this study.

#### 2.3.3 Ankle joint passive range of motion:

A digital inclinometer will be used to assess the ankle passive joint ROM in this study (Appendix E). According to Konor et al. (2012), a digital inclinometer on a smartphone is one of the most valid and reliable tools to measure joint ROM and both easily accessible and inexpensive for the researcher. According to Konor et al. (2012), the results indicate that the digital inclinometer resulted in higher reliability coefficients (intraclass correlation coefficient = 0.96-0.99), while the goniometer had an intraclass correlation coefficient =0.85-0.96, and indicate that the digital inclinometer was more sensitive to ROM changes (minimal detectable change =  $3.8^{\circ}$ ) compared to the goniometer (minimal detectable change =  $7.7^{\circ}$ ). Vohralik et al. (2015) compared an inclinometer application installed on a phone (*iHandy Level*) and an inclinometer on ankle dorsiflexion ROM of 20 participants using a weight-bearing lunge test. The intra-rater and inter-rater reliability of both was assessed. Intraclass correlation coefficients of the digital inclinometer on a smartphone demonstrated excellent intra-rater (0.97) and interrater reliability (0.76). Both studies show excellent reliability of the test.

2.3.4 Video analysis of knee joint hyperextension during gait:

Kinovea movement analysis software (Appendix F) will be used to analyse knee hyperextension during gait. Kinovea is an open-access, 2D motion analysis software, which has been used in sports, research work, and in clinical settings (Puig-Diví et al., 2017). Puig-Diví et al. (2017) assessed the validity and reliability of angular and distance data measured using Kinovea movement analysis software. They simulated angles of the joints of the lower limb during walking and captured and analysed at four different perspectives -45, 60, 75, and 90 degrees. The results indicate that Kinovea software is an accurate and reliable instrument when measuring angular and distance data up to five metres from the object and at an angle of 90 degrees.

## 2.4 Study Procedure

## 2.4.1 Pilot Study

In order to determine the feasibility of the data collection process in the main study, a pilot study will be conducted. It will also allow the researcher to determine the time taken to perform the tests. During the pilot study, any errors or difficulties will be evaluated, and the relevant changes made to the protocol to allow for the smooth running of the main study. The pilot study will be conducted at a single rehabilitation facility who grants permission for the study to be conducted. The sample size for the pilot study will be 10% of the total sample size (i.e. six participants), and their results will be included into the main study only if there are no changes and the key features of the of the main study are preserved in the pilot study.

#### 2.4.2 Main Study

#### 2.4.2.1 Participant Recruitment:

Physiotherapists working at the various rehabilitation hospitals or units will be asked to screen their patients for potential study participants, this would include determining if their patients fit the inclusion criteria for the study. Phone calls to the various locations will be done biweekly to attain the names and contact details of the patients who fit the inclusion criteria and to make appointments for the data collection. This will be done until the estimated sample size of 60 participants has been reached. On the day of the appointment, the researcher will explain the study and give all potential participants a study information sheet (see Appendix G) in the presence of the treating physiotherapist or unit manager (as a witness). The potential participants will be allowed to have time to read through the information sheet. The study will be explained to potential participants in a language that they understand. The researcher is fluent in English and Afrikaans and a translator will be made available should the participants not understand the abovementioned languages. Potential participants may also ask any questions they would like clarification on regarding the study. If the potential participants agree to participate in this study, they will sign a consent form and all their data will be recorded by the researcher (see Appendix H).

#### 2.4.2.2 Data collection procedure:

#### 2.4.2.2.1 Muscle strength testing of the ankle:

Each participant will be asked to do three isometric contractions (maximal) for both muscle groups being tested. The isometric contractions will be held for three seconds and the average of the maximal isometric contractions used for data analysis.

#### 2.4.2.2.2 Muscle tone testing of the ankle:

The MTS identifies the point in the muscle's range where velocity-dependent spasticity occurs (Cerebral Palsy Alliance, 2018). The dynamic spasticity of a muscle is the relationship between

R1 and R2 and is calculated by subtracting R1 from R2. Three measurements will be taken, and the average of these measurements will be used for data analysis. The quality of muscle reaction is measured using a grading system (Fayazi et al., 2014) specified in Appendix D.

2.4.2.2.3 Ankle joint range of motion testing:

Three measures of the dorsiflexion lunge test and ankle plantarflexion ROM will be recorded, and for data analysis, the average of these measures of both tests will be used (Cox et al., 2018). 2.4.2.2.4 Video capturing of gait over a distance of ten metres:

Three coloured stickers will be placed on the participant's paretic lower limb: over the greater trochanter, over the lateral femoral epicondyle, and over the lateral malleolus (Cooper et al., 2012) (Appendix F). The participant will be asked to then walk, at their own chosen speed, a distance of ten metres. The camera will be placed less than five metres away from the participant with an angle of 90 degrees, at the level of their knee as they walk (Puig-Diví et al., 2017). The video will be imported into Kinovea movement analysis software and ankle, knee, and hip angles will be measured during initial contact, loading response, and midstance phases.

## 2.4.2.2.5 Data Management:

After all outcome measures have been completed, the data will be recorded on an Excel spreadsheet.

#### 2.4.2.2.6. Health safety:

The researcher and the research assistant will adhere to the strictest infection control protocol and wear the required personal protective equipment. All equipment and working surfaces used during data collection will be sanitised before and after testing. The coloured stickers will not be reused and will be disposed of after each use.

## Chapter 7 2.5 Novel Considerations

The global pandemic Sars-CoV-2 (also known as the coronavirus/covid-19) has resulted in 16 million infections, over 650 thousand deaths and 10 million recoveries (WHO, 2020). Primarily, the virus causes respiratory and cardiovascular complications, however, neurological complications also occur in patients with coronavirus and add to the morbidity and mortality (Bridwell et al., 2020). Acute cerebrovascular disease is one of the main neurological complications seen in covid-19 patients. According to Bridwell et al (2020), there are thought to be multiple factors which cause a stroke in covid-19 patients. The virus causes a widespread inflammatory response and the coagulability of the blood increases. In Italy, the rate of ischaemic stroke in hospitalised covid-19 patients was 2.5% with prophylactics for thromboembolism, whereas China was estimated to be 5%, and 3.7% in the Netherlands. Covid-19-related ischemic strokes have been seen in a younger population, with large vessel occlusion,

and reduced cerebral oxygenation due to severe hypoxia in older patients (Bridwell et al., 2020). Participants in this study will be asked covid-related questions as part of the demographic information to be collected (Appendix A).

#### 2.6 Ethical Considerations

Ethical clearance will be applied for from the University of the Witwatersrand Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC). Written permission to include potential participants will be obtained from the hospital manager and clinical heads of the rehabilitation units (Appendix I). Prior to commencing the study, written informed consent will be obtained from potential participants. Participants will be informed that they can withdraw from this study at any point, without any ramifications. The outcome measures used in this study will be performed in a safe, clinical setting, and will not pose harm to the participants. Participants will be made to feel comfortable, and no areas of the body will be unnecessarily exposed, and areas will only be exposed with the participant's consent and done so in a professional and respectful manner. Care will be made to ensure participants' safety by remaining close to the participant during the assessment session to ensure there is reduced risk of falling and injury and ensuring that the environment in which the assessment in taking place is well lit and free of any hazardous or obstacles. If the participants experience any pain at the affected knee during the assessment, the patient will be given the contact details of a general practitioner at the hospital where they are currently receiving therapy, or the nearest facility, if there is no general practitioner at that facility. The treating physiotherapist will also be notified about the participant's knee pain, if they are not aware of it already, for further management. The contact details of the general practitioners will be included in the information sheet.

The video recording will not include their face in order to protect their identity. Information collected during this study will only be used for the intended purpose of this study and no personal information relating to the participants will be divulged. All participants will be allocated a participant code. The researcher will keep possession of the key to the participant codes allocated.

In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, extra precaution will be taken to ensure participant safety. Any potential participants who present with signs and symptoms of Covid-19 such as fever, sore throat, shortness of breath, fatigue, loss of smell and taste, discolouration of fingers and toes (WHO, 2020) and with a travel history to high risk areas will only be assessed after a self-quarantine period of 10-14 days and a negative Covid-19 test.

## 3. Data Analysis

Statistical analysis will be performed with *Statistical Package for the Social Sciences* (SPSS) with significant level set at p< 0.05. Appendix K includes specific statistical tests for each objective.

4. Third Fran	ine of the f	Tojeci						
	January- April 2020	May- July 2020	August 2020	November- December 2020	January- June 2021	July 2021	August - September 2021	October 2021
Proposal development								
Protocol submission								
Ethics application								
Pilot study								
Main study								
Data analysis								
Write up of research report								
Submission								

## 4. Time Frame of the Project

## 5. Budget

Funding for this study will be applied for from the *Medical Faculty Research Endowment Fund*, the *South African Society of Physiotherapy* as well as the *South African Neurological Rehabilitation Association*. See Appendix L for the budget of this study.

## 6. References

- An, C.M., and Won, J.I. 2016. Effects of ankle joint mobilization with movement and weight-bearing exercise on knee strength, ankle range of motion, and gait velocity in patients with stroke: a pilot study. *Journal of physical therapy science*, 28(2), pp.689-694.
- Balaban, B. and Tok, F., 2014. Gait disturbances in patients with stroke. *PM&R*, *6*(7), pp.635-642.
- Bridwell, R., Long, B. and Gottlieb, M. 2020. Neurologic complications of COVID-19. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*.
- Cerebral Palsy Alliance. 2018. *MTS*. Available from: <u>https://cerebralpalsy.org.au/our-research/about-cerebral-palsy/assessments-and-outcome-measures/modified-tardieu-scale/#1494200958472-1e8cac2d-70c3</u>. [Accessed on 26/02/2020].

- Cooper, A., Alghamdi, G.A., Alghamdi, M.A., Altowaijri, A. and Richardson, S. 2012. The relationship of lower limb muscle strength and knee joint hyperextension during the stance phase of gait in hemiparetic stroke patients. *Physiotherapy research international*, *17*(3), pp.150-156.
- Cox, R.W., Martinez, R.E., Baker, R.T. and Warren, L. 2018. Validity of a smartphone application for measuring ankle plantar flexion. *Journal of sport rehabilitation*, 27(3).
- Fayazi, M., Dehkordi, S.N., Dadgoo, M. and Salehi, M. 2014. The relationship between spasticity and lower extremity strength with functional mobility following chronic stroke. *International Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 2(218), p.2.
- Higginson, J.S., Zajac, F.E., Neptune, R.R., Kautz, S.A., Burgar, C.G. and Delp, S.L. 2006. Effect of equinus foot placement and intrinsic muscle response on knee extension during stance. *Gait & posture*, 23(1), pp.32-36.
- Irving, D.B., Cook, J.L., Young, M.A. and Menz, H.B. 2007. Obesity and pronated foot type may increase the risk of chronic plantar heel pain: a matched case-control study. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 8(1), p.41.
- Konor, M.M., Morton, S., Eckerson, J.M. and Grindstaff, T.L. 2012. Reliability of three measures of ankle dorsiflexion range of motion. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, 7(3), p.279.
- Li, F., Wu, Y. and Li, X. 2014. Test-retest reliability and inter-rater reliability of the MTS and the Modified Ashworth Scale in hemiplegic patients with stroke. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, *50*(1), pp.9-15.
- Li, S., Francisco, G.E. and Zhou, P. 2018. Post-stroke hemiplegic gait: new perspective and insights. *Frontiers in physiology*, *9*, p.1021.
- Lucareli, P.R.G. and Greve, J.M.D.A. 2008. Knee joint dysfunctions that influence gait in cerebrovascular injury. *Clinics*, *63*(4), pp.443-450.
- Mentiplay, B.F., Perraton, L.G., Bower, K.J., Adair, B., Pua, Y.H., Williams, G.P., McGaw, R. and Clark, R.A. 2015. Assessment of lower limb muscle strength and power using hand-held and fixed dynamometry: a reliability and validity study. *PLOS one*, *10*(10).
- Ota, S., Ueda, M., Aimoto, K., Suzuki, Y. and Sigward, S.M. 2014. Acute influence of restricted ankle dorsiflexion angle on knee joint mechanics during gait. *The Knee*, 21(3), pp.669-675.

- Puig-Diví, A., Padullés-Riu, J.M., Busquets-Faciaben, A., Padullés-Chando, X., Escalona-Marfil, C. and Marcos-Ruiz, D. 2017. Validity and reliability of the kinovea program in obtaining angular and distance dimensions.
- Richardson, S., Cooper, A., Alghamdi, G., Alghamdi, M. and Altowaijri, A., 2012. Assessing knee hyperextension in patients after stroke: comparing clinical observation and Siliconcoach software. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, *19*(3), pp.163-168.
- Scott, D.A., Bond, E.Q., Sisto, S.A. and Nadler, S.F. 2004. The intra-and interrater reliability of hip muscle strength assessments using a handheld versus a portable dynamometer anchoring station. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 85(4), pp.598-603.
- Sheffler, L.R. and Chae, J. 2015. Hemiparetic gait. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics*, 26(4), pp.611-623.
- Singh, P., Joshua, A.M., Ganeshan, S. and Suresh, S. 2011. Intra-rater reliability of the MTS to quantify spasticity in elbow flexors and ankle plantar flexors in adult stroke subjects. *Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology*, *14*(1), p.23.
- Springer, S., Vatine, J.J., Wolf, A. and Laufer, Y. 2013. The effects of dual-channel functional electrical stimulation on stance phase sagittal kinematics in patients with hemiparesis. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, *23*(2), pp.476-482.
- Van Voorhis, C.W. and Morgan, B.L. 2007. Understanding power and rules of thumb for determining sample sizes. *Tutorials in quantitative methods for psychology*, *3*(2), pp.43-50.
- Veerbeek, J.M., Van Wegen, E.E.H., Harmeling–Van der Wel, B.C., Kwakkel, G., and EPOS Investigators. 2011. Is accurate prediction of gait in nonambulatory stroke patients possible within 72 hours poststroke? The EPOS study. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair*, 25(3), pp.268-274.
- Vohralik, S.L., Bowen, A.R., Burns, J., Hiller, C.E. and Nightingale, E.J. 2015. Reliability and validity of a smartphone app to measure joint range. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation*, 94(4), pp.325-330.
- WHO. 2020. Q&A on coronaviruses (COVID-19). Available from: <a href="https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/question-and-answers-hub/q-a-detail/q-a-coronaviruses#:~:text=symptoms">https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/question-and-answers-hub/q-a-detail/q-a-coronaviruses#:~:text=symptoms</a>. [Accessed on 1/06/2020].
- WHO. 2020. <u>WHO Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard</u>. Available from: <u>https://covid19.who.int/</u>. [Accessed on 28/07/2020].

- *Figure 1*: Clipart Library. 2018. Collection of walking man drawing. Available from: <u>http://clipart-library.com/walking-man-drawing.html</u>. [Accessed on 22/03/2020].
- *Figure 2*: TRTWorld. 2020. As pandemic deepens, Covid-19 symptoms multiply. Available from: <u>https://www.trtworld.com/life/as-pandemic-deepens-covid-19-symptoms-multiply-36131</u>. [Accessed on 26/07/2020].

## Appendix P - Raw data:

MS Unaff DF	MS Unaff PF	MS Aff DF	MS Aff PF
15,67	12	5,33	6,33
13	15,33	7	11,67
20	14,67	9	8
13	26,67	7,33	17
13,33	13	9	9
10	13	10	8,67
4	4,83	0	8,67
8,67	12	4,33	8,67
12,33	13,67	2,67	0
13,33	11	5	7,33
7,33	8	6,33	7,33
9,33	11	7	8

		R2-R1	
R2 DF	R1 DF	DF	DF: Quality of muscle reaction
-4,33	-5	-0,67	0
-15,67	-16,67	1	1
8,33	-1	9,33	2
12,33	-5,33	17,67	2
1,67	-4,67	6,33	2
6,33	6,33	0	0
0	-4,67	4,67	2
8,67	-13,67	22,33	2
0	-9,33	9,33	4
-5,33	-15,67	10,33	2
9,33	10	-0,67	0
-9	-15,33	6,33	2

			R2-R1	
R2 PF		R1 PF	PF	PF: Quality of muscle reaction
	45	44,67	0,33	0
4	45,33	45	0,33	0
3	36,33	36	0,33	1
3	39,67	36,67	2	1
3	38,67	34,67	4	1
3	38,33	38,67	-0,33	0
4	44,33	44	0,33	0
4	49,33	47,67	1,67	1
	40	37	3	1
	35	36	-1	0
4	49,67	50	-0,33	0
	50	48,67	1,33	1

ROM Unaff	ROM Unaff	ROM Aff	ROM Aff
DF	PF	DF	PF
28,17	28,6	27,7	26,43
34,93	37,97	34,57	36,47
33,07	40,47	21,83	39,23
22,63	41,47	10,53	40,2
29,83	32,4	28,3	22,67
28,87	45,07	26,6	42,6
21,57	36,07	16,23	36,07
35,8	33,73	23,97	37,63
36,8	26,47	20,8	24,47
32,73	32,83	29,97	27,2
30,53	24,23	35,23	21,27
20,53	28,27	24,17	26,47

Knee angles: HS	LR	MS	TS	PrS
4,5	0,7	1,1	2	11,3
12,8	3,8	3,4	-7,4	19,9
4	16,7	25,7	22,9	17,5
11,6	13,2	7,7	19,3	23,3
14,1	26,8	24,7	24,3	23,5
6,1	21,9	22,1	10,2	20,7
13,9	14	13,2	14	21,7
21,3	29,9	22,4	14,7	19
18,3	16	19,4	18,8	24
-1,6	-3,3	-11,1	-5,4	13,7
14,3	17,5	6,5	-2,8	11,5
6,8	9,2	15,9	12,3	19
0-5°	15-18°	0-5°	0°	35-40°

## Appendix Q – Data tables:

(	/			
	Age in years	Height (cm)	Weight (kg)	Months since stroke
Mean	52.25	173.50	86.83	5.48
Std. Deviation	15.51	10.20	27.45	5.15
Skewness	.30	.65	2.33	.47
Std. Error of Skewness	.64	.64	.64	.64
Kurtosis	90	1.22	6.63	-1.70
Std. Error of Kurtosis	1.23	1.23	1.23	1.23
Range	50	39	108	12.75
Minimum	27	157	57	.25
Maximum	77	196	165	13.00

## Table 7.3 - Age, height, weight, and months since stroke of study sample (distribution of data)

## Table 7.4 – Muscle tone of the ankle distribution data (n=12)

	Min	Max	Mean	Std. Dev.	Skewr	iess	Kurt	osis	Kolmo Smii	ogoro mova	ov- a
						Std.		Std.	Statistic	df	Sig
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error			
R2 Dorsiflexion	-15.67	12.33	1.028	8.46131	55	.64	39	1.23	.15	12	.20*
<ul> <li>Passive ROM</li> </ul>											
R1 Dorsiflexion	-16.67	10.00	-6.25	8.53647	.58	.64	32	1.23	.18	12	.20*
<ul> <li>ROM with</li> </ul>											
rapid stretch											
R2-R1	67	22.33	7.17	7.25799	.89	.64	.33	1.23	.17	12	.20*
Dorsiflexion											
R2	35.00	50.00	42.64	5.32850	.14	.64	-1.46	1.23	.19	12	.20*
Plantarflexion –											
Passive ROM											
R1	34.67	50.00	41.59	5.63211	.21	.64	-1.76	1.23	.21	12	.17
Plantarflexion –											
ROM with rapid											
stretch											
R2-R1	-1.00	4.00	.97	1.47345	.83	.64	.11	1.23	.25	12	.03
Plantarflexion											

Min: minimum; max: maximum; Std. Dev.: Standard deviation

Table 7.5 – ROM of the ankle distribution data (n=12)

	Min	Max	Mean	Std. Dev	Skewn	ess	ess Kurtosis		Shapiro-Wilk		/ilk
						Std.		Std.	Statistic	df	Sig
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Error	Statistic	Error			
ROM	20.53	36.80	29.62	5.55	50	.64	96	1.23	-	-	-
dorsiflexion											
(unaffected)											
ROM	24.23	45.07	33.97	6.46	.18	.64	91	1.23	-	-	-
plantarflexion											
(unaffected)											
ROM	10.53	35.23	24.99	7.12	51	.64	.28	1.23	.95	24	.25
dorsiflexion											
(affected)											

ROM	21.27	42.60	31.73	7.64	.01	.64	-1.83	1.23	.95	24	.33
plantarflexion											
(affected)											

# Table 7.6 – Hemiparetic knee angles during the stance phases of gait distribution data (n=12)

				Std.			
	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Deviation			
	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Statistic	Df	Sig.
Initial contact	-1.6	21.3	10.51	6.61	.97	12	.87
Loading	-3.3	29.9	13.87	10.03	.97	12	.94
response							
Midstance	-11.1	25.7	12.58	11.29	.93	12	.37
Terminal stance	-7.4	24.3	10.24	11.06	.92	12	.25
Pre-swing	11.3	24.0	18.76	4.47	.90	12	.15